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'indicted for attempted rape in the first 

APPMIARANOBS!-P„  

For the People, ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATM= RUM C: 

Peter P. 4o1sough1in,.‘. 
Official Stenographer. 



Mr McCawSlick opened the Case onbehalf of t?eople 

as tollOwt: 

May it please the Court Mr. Foreman and 

ofthe-jur7;, 
. - 

This indictment charges the defendant wit 

of attempt to commit the °rile .of rape in the fir$, 4 

That is the first *0 cunt in the indiCtitient,. There 

is another count in the Indictment Charging' assault in the 

second degree, that ia, an 'assault committed with • intent 

to have sexual intercourse with the complainant. The corn-

plainant is a young woman. 22 years of age who lived at ,the 

time the rape or the attempted rape is charged to have 

been committed, on the 28th of April, 1913, right around 

the corner from the dental establishment of the defendant . 

on 6th avenue near 10th street. She had, with her mo-

ther, several times visited the defendant for the: pur 

,-pose of havingher teeth operated upon. On this occasion 

she went there alone. In the buildi:ng, 1E09 6th avenue, 

.the defendant occupied two rooms on the second floor front. 

The entrance to the building was on the south side and , 

then there were stairs leading up to the second flock, 

and you turn to the right' and go into the dentist's Wait-

ing

-

A diagram of these premises will be.sUbmitted 

to you later. ' In the front of these two-400ms the de--

fendant had two dental chairs one of them was in the larg..



or. roam and the other in the sinner roam. On 

in question the complainant came in and waited - f 

the defendant being engaged in operating on some other-
_ 

patient. Then :he told her to get into the chair, that 

is, th chair in the larger roam. ' There was no one else, 

as / understand it,  in the roam at the time excepting 

dentist, the defendant and the complainant the girl. 

She got in this first chair which was in the outer office 

and he did certain work on her teeth there. Then he 

told her to go into the inner roam. He had put something 

in 1r mouth. He told her to sit ,there with her mouth 

her head back when, he suddenly -Came forward; 

not repeat all that-he-did. I would either have, you hear 

that from her mouth and then you will understand it ex-

actly as it happened.  other,things he did, 

he pulled her dress up and exposed his own ierson and 

tried to have selcual intercourse with her. In the strug-

gle that ensued she was very badly bruised; her Clothing 

was torn andher waist that She had on was torn and -we 

will produce it here_as an exhibit,-- also certain other 

artic4es of clothing,. She succeeded in, preventing him.'t 

from having sexual intercourse with -her. She ran out 

of the place in a state of excitement and -around the 

corner to  her mother. - She ralted to her mother all that 



• . • 

aPPelled.and exhibited the torn garments and bruiseis on 

her legs.and 

Now there* is certain .other. evidence  that will :corrobo. 

rate the story which she tells ant upon that evidence we 

will ask you to convict this man of an attempt to commit 
•D 

the crime of rape. 

MR. LEVY: If your Honor please, there are two counts 

in this indictment and I respectfully move that the Dia-

'trict Attorney be compelled to elect under Which coUnt in 

the indictment he will present this case. 

THE COURT: pci you desire to mate an -election now? ' 

MR. MC COB:MICE:: 'I would rather not.. I-would rath. 

er wait until the evidence is all in. 

THE -COURT: I won't constrain an election now. 

MR  LEVY: Exception. 

MARTHA POULAILLON, awitness called on be. 

half of the People, being duly sworn, testified as follows: 

(The witness states she lfies.e.t 128 Vest 11th street.) 

MR. IVY: The witness, your Honor, speaks English., 

By THE COURT: 

(4, Do you speak English? A Yes, sir, a little bit. I 

'speak enough to make myself understood; I can't say everything 

in E-nglish. 

What language do you speak? A French language. 



TBE 61M"; We will see if we can get along 442 English, 

xRE5, EXAMIVATION BY MR. MD CORlitICItr 
4 

Now, Miss Poulaillea, where did you live on the 28th of 

April last year? A In 128 *tot 11th street. 

That is lumN1not very far west of 6th avenues a that. 

A No, sir; not very far. 

at that time did you know *here Albert C. Roy had 

an office? A Yes, sir; he had an office in 6th, avenue but 

Near what street? A It is near 11th street,. 

What is your age? 

•41 How many times? -A I was three times. 

Q On those three occasions did, you go there alone? A No 

sir; the first time Mother took me with her and the second time 

she caMe, and she came to the door and she led me to the dent-

ist's office and because she saw that there was some people in  

side she said "I will come back and get you." She came back 

after and the doctor was still fixing me ,the second time. 

Q Now_T. am speaking of the 28th of April. Do you re 

member going there that day? . A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you go therealone or was some one there with you? 

A No, air; I was alone. • 



ruling of ',fthis trial 

it now. Have you arty objection .t 

.MR LEM Have you gat the surveyor here? 

MR MO-CORMICK: Yes. 

MR, LEVyi - I wanted to ask him a few queetions-, 

may, as to the diagram. 

. THE COURT:. Do you desire to withdraw the witness now? 

• MR: MC CORMICK: If he is here. He should be here. 

thought he would be.,hex.e. 

-MR. LEVY: Subject to any correction it might be 

_ temporarily:used. 

THE COURT: Very well. 

(The diagram referred to is marked People's Eihibit 

lin evidence.) 

BY 1/ER MC CORMICK: 

Q Did you ever see that diagram before A Yes sir. 

Q You understand it, do you? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now it is a diagram of Dr. Roy's office? A Yes, sir. 

Thatis, on the second floor of the building in ,which he 

had his office? A Yes, sir. 

Q You saw this up In my office referring to the diagram)7.-I--

A Yes, air.-

, The other day? - A Yes, Sir.  

Q Now, you mut there on the 28th of April,. didn't you? 

Yea,  air. 

••-• 



clock, mostly sharp. 

ct When you reached the office how many people were - 

There was only one person. 

A Yes,  sir; I mean: there waS a patient there 

As you cams in the door, ,point out on the .diagram where' 

the door to the office is. Let me hold it, 66 the  jury can See,. .,4 

Q, As you come up the stairs where, is the door you go into 

the outer office by? • A (No answer) 

Listen to the queetion. When you come up stairs.. 

Where is thatdoor? • A This muit b 

Q, To the dentist's office? A Yes, sir.• 

Q, Isn't there a door there (indicating)? 



Q Where are'they? A There is one here a dentist's 

A There ,(indicating); 

licow where was this patient sitting? -A The—patient 

was sitting on the first dental chair., 

q Now, what did you do then? A I waited a -Attie while 

q Where aid you wait? A. Mtbe sofa there (indicating). 

where was this nurse? A The nurse was in here. 

q How old a =man was the nurse? A I can't say that. 

q

 

You say the nurse was there and the patient in that 

chair (indicating)? A Yes,* sir" 

q Where was the chair? A The chair was there with Vim 



Q, Then what happened? A Then when the patient , went 

away the doctor told me to take the chair, the dental Chair. 

ci Do you know where the nurse was? A She was at 

table, some place, the first dental chair. 

Q You took the first dental chair? A Yes sir. 

Now it was after the other patient went out? A Yee, 

Q And how long did you stay in that chair? A 

say how long, but he fixed two teeth, he plastered two teeth 

and. put cotton in- bne; that is all I can say. 

Q Now you go on and tell the jury. all that happened while-

_you were Up there? A I went to the dentist I's.. 

the dental chair and while I was in the dental, chair hefitect, 

my teeth, plastered two and put cotton in one, and after .a lito 

(1, What happened in the second _chair? A Then he told. me 

when I was in the office,- in that dental chair, he told 

me to leave my mouth open so that the plaster would dry, told 

me to .open it that way,, like that (illustrating) _and to .keep it 

that way. So I did What he told me and I sat- there a little 



ith-my mouth open and then suddenly he came  in, lid he 

°came  on my month, put his tongue _way in My mouth held my hands 

with one hand; then he leaned on me, triedt'Irto force me put 

my dress half way -up; I was not well; / had a sanitary belt on 

The chair, probably, was fixed before, just a little push 

and I was way down, legs were up. I kicked as much as I could 

to prevent him from doing that to me, he tried and tried for a 

long time and I thought he was going to ichoke me, he had his 

tongue in my mouth, moving it all the time. I could not get 

He had his hands holding me. I had bruises here 

on my legs. I kicked him and when he saw at last,. after try-

ing and trying, 'thathe could not do %what- he wanted he let go of 

me and .he Opened the door and he had himself exposed-. 

41 You mean that his private parts were exposed? _A Yet`, • 

Q, Was that when he was on top of you? 

Q Now where were those bruises, when did. you discover 

the bruises on your leg? A I went home directly to mother 

and we only saw it just in the, afternoon, and they were just 

red when I- came home but they just turned a little bit yellat. 

Q Have you told us 'all that happened in this,denta.1 



What did he do with his band? A At the time be had 

his"ngue in my mouth, 

At the time he had his tongue in his mouth where were 

his hands? A One hand holding my hand. 

Holding two of your hands? .A Yea, sir; the other hand 

here (indif3ating) he used to hold my dress 1,4p) tried to force 

• IQ, Where did  he have the other- hand'?- A. He had the hand ; 

and tried to have I can't say it. 

He tore your drawers with that hand? A Ths, sir; tbre, 

When was it he W1M3 exposed? 

With his hands? 



;Did he say anything t 

say. anything. 

Did he hand you anything?• A No, sir; he did not give 

,me anything only when X went away to the sitting ro-om r took:my-

coat and then when  I pulled my coat I 'saw a dollar bill, 

just saw a dollar bill sticking in the told, of my sleeve, 
theleft

 ( witness indicating her left sleeve ) . 

Q Did you say anything to the defendant? A I juist took 

the i13111 and. threw it in his face. 

Q, • Did he say anything? A N sir; he did not say any-

thing; he told me, yes, he told me to buY floweri With it. 

did not say a word. 

QAsyoucameout did you see any one else in the dent. 

Jot 'a outer ?- A No, sir; I did not see anybody. 

Q Did you see- anybody on the stairs as you vent down 

No, sir; I went quickly home and I did not see anybody. 

Q When you reached home did you tell your mother about 

what had happened to you?. 

TA11.-LEVY:  I object to the.t.form of question as in-. 

competent., 



'913jeOtion overx•Uledi exCe-ption.-

Yes, Sin I told my mother, 

¶1H COURT; That is an answer.-

Oho-W-11er any part of your -Olothing 

bleat to that as not material , relevant 

or competent, and not binding upon the defendant. 

Object ion or erruled; exception. 

•Y`Ess or•no: A Yes, sir. 

Q; Did you say anything about your waist having bten torn 

1611 -LEM r object to that, air. The witneiss ehoul 

. not be led. She has not saidany-thing of the kind. 

Q, Where is that waist now, do you know?. A It is here. 

Who has it? A The detective has got it 

(4, You don't know where the waist is now, do you? 

sir; I think the detective has it here.  

Now, do you know where the stocking is, that is with 

after that dayrsee the defendant? 

q Do you remember meeting him in 



C), You say that... 

A On my two. :wrists. 

*t 'color were :they A When X got home they were ire 

only, they were just red and swollen. 

Q, Red or white? •A  Bed and inflamed. 

Now tell us how did they appear the next $10,Y? 4Later 

in the evening, the same evening, they just turned Yellow and 

the next day they were black. 

You were speaking of the, bruisiis on yourA

 Yes, and on my leg. 

Q . Now which leg were they on? A On my right leg. 

.What part of the. leg? A Just here (indicating the 



.. So you were -.about 20. learn • • old • when .iou Came to this . 

'country? A -What? 

0,- You were about • 20 years o d:When..you,came to this 

country? A- _X was. 

Q, Answer me in English. A And I want to say soniething 

n French. 

Q, Well tell ns this in English you were about 29 yeaks. 

old when you came to this country? A We were not lvingtwo

 living in New /ork. we were in another city before. 

.Q, You have been in America how long? A Been in America 

Q Now are you a nervous girl? 'A What is that? .Am -

nervous girl? Not so very. 

You are somewhat nervous? A A little bit. 

You get excited very quickly, don't you? A 

Q, Well, how do you show your nervousness, in what way? 

A -Well I am nervous but not too nervous, yes, 

Q. When ritira you have your monthlies you, are more nervous 

than you are at other times? A. I was on that day 'Neiiiiecialayi. 

Q, You will excuse me asking you thee questions.. When 

you get your monthly courses., when you do get them you get more 

-- nervous than at other times? A lio, sir; I am just as usual. 



don't affect me at all 

:Q, Did you ever have any hysterical attack? A To air; 

I  newer was sick at all; in perfect, health. 

don't mean sick* bodily tick, but I Mean nervously 

sick. A No, sir; I newer have them. 

You never have that? A 1o, sir. 

Q, Pardon my asking you this question, please, I have got 

to ask it in the performanee of my duty. Do your monthly 

courses last long? You can ask that in Prench. 

(Addressing the interpreter.) 

.(Through the interpreter). Three days. . 

Q 'Which day was this, the day that, you. went in there to 

ee Dr. Roy, was that the second day? A It was the second day 

/4 Of your menstruation? A Yee, sir. 

Q, Weren't you depressed downhearted that day? A What 

did you say? No, sir, not at all. 

Yes, sir; sure about that. 

Q But you were suffering with your menetruation? 

g, Now, Miss, while this was, going on did you  make any 

outery? • A Yes, sir; I tried very hard to get away. 

Scream Out? A I screamed a little bit, I 

re, but. there , was noise on 6th avenue I c culdn It cry any time so 



had his tongue ' in My mouth. 

Did you bite his sire but I 'tried to 
t 

get out bUt I could not. 

Q,Did you bite his tongue A No, sir; X did not. 

Why couldn't you bite his tongue? A Oh well 

have c urage to do that. 

tt You didn't have courage to do that? 

.Did you reallze that you were about to, be ravished or. 

Well I don't understand what you say. 

MR. 'MY: Ask that quest ion in French. (Addressing. 

THLWITNESS: I knew what a danger I was running bUt 

at the same time I had *some strength yet left to try and 

prevent him doing anything like that happening. 

Did you know what an act of' sexual intercourse was? 

You did not w .at that time what it meant, bow it we 

I was imagining what- he was aboxit Co do. - -0 
wen, what did • you imagine he was going to do to you? 

gining that he was going to ruin my, __take My "dr. 

4 You were bandaged uti? A Yes, sir; it was a good thing 



round that YoU were bandaged u 

May I answer this question?' 

Oh yea, after along.time• 

Q, When he fOund that .you -resisted he stopped, did., 'the:?. 

A Yes, sir; but after he tried for some time and saw invoryilv 

(1 You mean that ilter you made it clear to him that what 

he was doing was •against your will then he 

MR. MC CORMICK:. I.objeet to,that. 

ThE COURT: What was the remark? 

MR. MC CORMICK: I say she has answered, She 

he only stopped when 116 fOund that he Could not, 

TIM COURT: Put a question. 

11 Now, Miss, -when was it trt he stopp d with his efforte? 

A . He stopped when he saw that there was nothing to do with.me. 

He stopped when he saw you would not allow this? 

sir; I wouldn't let .him do that what he wanted to do. 

That is what I mean, Miss, I l'iave get to ask these ques. 

tions and don't be offended with me. - He ut opped when he found 

out that you aould,net let him do it 



Won t you answer please? .A Zen, 

In the meantime he -tried to excite you didn't h 

Didn't 't27 to excite You? A No,, 

Q, He tried t you may put this, it you please, in 

- did he try to make you passionate? 

ER. MC C1ORMICIC: I object to that, a s to what he tried 

to do; she does not know. 

'1.13 COURT-: Let her testify .as to what he did. 

MR. IVY: You don't know. She was there. 

THE COURT: She may -answer.' 

May s / say something? 

be quite enough. 

.BY LEVY: 
• • 

• ct Did you say to him "I don't want you to do this" or 

anything like that? A No, sir; I did not.'  

Q, Did you say to him, tell him not to do ? 

sir; I hardly spoke to him but just for business purposes. 

(1, Did you Say anything to him while he had his hands upon 

you or was doing anything .with you? Did you say anything to 

'him at all? * A I couldn't say anything; I had my mouth he 

had his tongue in,5. my mouth, hoW ,could I speak? 

ct Do you mean to be underetool as saying that all the 

tirne during the whole of he transaction? _A Yes 



Q liar in? -Ai Yes ir; all the time. 

How far in? A Very faro, he could hardly choke me, 

yes, sir) he was moving it all the time inside. 

How lbng did you say he had his tongue in,your 

Oh I can't saY how long. 

Q Well give me your best idea. A. I can't say how long; 

didn't have a clock before me. 

Q But try and fix it according to youx, present' recollec-

tion, try to fix the time that you say he had it in your mouth, 

• pay a few seconds or Minutes or Whatever ,you like. A 1 can'  

say the, time. When things happen like that it always seems 

longer; it seemed to me very long. 

q Have you thought about it since that time? A No, 

Q, But you -must have formed an idea you must have formed 

an idea as to the length, pf time, whether 

hour or a half an hour or some time? A To, air; •I Can't isy 



the time, thatis all ; can SAY; I was too worried; that iS 

all, to think about the time; it seemed to me vary long" that 

•q Do you know what hysterical means, do you? A 

I-knaW what it is but I was not. 

Q Did you ever see anybody Who was hysterical? A No, 

4 You have never been hysterical your 

-have never beeni 

Q :You have never been? - A 1MO, sir. 

Well now, he had his tongue in your mmhth? A Yes, air. 

q Where was hisbody? A He was leaning on me. 

q Was his chest on your chest? A Yes, sir. 

He covered your Whole body? A- Mostly, yea, sir but 

the chair was inclined; he was on top of MB and his tongue was 

in my mouth and his •chest was half way on my body. 

Q His face was against, of course,  against your face? 

- q During the whole of the time while he wa84 lifting your 

dress, while he was putting his hand upon your person did be 

remove himself from your body? A No 'sir; he did not; .he 

Mimed his body but not move his face. 



No# Sir; he did: not 

Q So that he did not get up from you atty time until 

after he felt that you had On a sanitary bandage, then he 

stopped, is that right? A That didn't stop him; he kept on 

continuing, moving his body towards me. 

q

 

Well I want to know what particular time it was When he 

stopped. A Well, when he- received enough kicks with 

my feet when he4saw then that it was useless then he got up. - 

,Q *lore was he during the time -that he had his tongue in 

your mouth, where were your hands? Do you understand the quell.' 

MR. MC CORMIOX-:-. I _object to-that.,He has no right 

to tell the witness that she understands' his question. 

THE COURT: So far as you can talk English. If you 

cannot answer a question• or do not undsrgtand it then lert 

the couniel know that you don't underafgait and :he will 

ask to have the interpreter help yau., Now go ahead. -

want to know where your hands were while 

his tongue was in your mouth? A My hands were held with his 

CI What part of your body ongside of your body,4oVer 
4 

your head, or where were they? A He was holding theicthat 



NIL LEM So as to get the record right She illus-

trates both hands clasped. 

THE 'WITNESS: That way ( illust rating) 

MR. LEM Both hands together over her left Shoulder, 

Now; were your hands clasped together or lying n top 

other? A I can't say that; I d an tt know; I did not 

Did he hold both—of your hands? 

How did he hold both of your hands''; 

q Did he hold both of your hands 

Q,. Now put your hand back in that same position again as 

you had it before please. Will you take) the officer's hands,' 

%please, cland 'show the Court and jury how he held your hands with 

his left hand? A I can't tell you. 



lost try to the best of your recollection, and show 

taa the posit ioi& of his holding your hands that i 

can't say the position because X don't know oxlytiiiilg about that, 

I was too upset to look at, his position. 

You don't recollect all the details? A Yes, $ 

know what heilone but I didn't look how he held his hand, what 

Were 5r9u upset? 11/hat do you mean by *being uplift*? 
.,a+a 

Hysterical? A ..NO; -sir; I was not hysterical; I was afraid; 

-(1 That did not, prevent you from seeing what the men was: 

doing or trying to 40? A-- Yes, sir; I *me trying to prevent i 

ct But you felt his hand on your hand, didn't you? A Ye 

air; I felt his hand. 

Q• Will you. show me how his hand was on your hand? 

can't show it to you because I don't know haw he held it; I 

9, Did he hold two or one hand? A He held two handse-

q Did he hold you by holding by tile wrists? 

One hand, by the wrist's? A Yea, sir. 

ow let. the officer show that or -illustrate it. 

hand is too-small. to hold both Of the interpreterit 



with his hand how he held. you.,, HOW can I;t1A you?  • -r 

BY. THal OURT 

4.,Did you notice his hand Or did you gee his hand? 

A II?, sir; I did not; I only felt it, that is all. 

You only felt it? 

CI Didn't see the hand, but felt it? A 

(4, Now where did you feel thathand on what, on your 

wrist elbow or what!? A - On the wrist and he held it this way 

Yes, sir; both wrists. 

At the same time he held it all the time? 
t - 

While his 'tongue wae'in your mouth? A Yes, sir. 

Both A Yes air. 

Couldn't you pull the .hand away from him? 

stronger than Xvita; if I could have I would have done it; 

I want you to make it clear. -If you don't understand 

me in English I am mo anxious to have it correct that I am 

willing you should ask through the interpreter. 

hands across your chest? A I can't tell you now. all I ca 
- 

tell you is he was holding—m,-y both hands ina tight way.. 

You told the Jury a little while ago that both of your 



I felt my min hands wer,e 

Vow then if both of your hands  were over your left 

shoulder then -your hands must have been either across your 

chest, your ar)n must have been across your  chest? A I didn't 

9 After he had hold of your hands with his left hand his 

arm would have to be across your cheat, is that so? A NO, 

sir; his arm was behind the chair; behind me, behind the °hair. 

4 Behind the chair? A Yes .sir. 

MR. LEM With your Honor's kind indulgence may 

Vhstaki illustrate this and then I can ask the witness 

Now, you know, young lady, this is for the 

• purpose of illustration. (Indicating) You put your 

hands together as the young lady illustrated they were 

when they were being held. Is that correci? (Addressing 

CI You say the left hand of the defendant was 

both of your hands (illustrating)? 

And while doing that his mouth was against 

Q And his chest was up against your chest do 

'tied, is that correct? A Part of his body was on my Chest. 

What part of his body as on your Chest? A I think 
, • ' 



it was only his 'legs. 

On ly his 3, go? 

Q, So if he was in that position with his niouth to Your 

mouth, his arm *list have been steross your cheat just AS MY arm' 

is acrose. Mr. Mustaki tt; Chest? A To, sir, he had the arm 

turned down towards the chair. 

Will you show in what way his arm was turned towards 

the chair? Let ber illustrate that please. A He was on my 

right side (witness Indicating the right side of the chair). 

Q

 

You cannot illustrate it with the man on the left side' 

of. you A Yes, sir; that is what I was doing. 

MR. LEVY: Will you permit me 'go through this with 

Q Is that the reason that you Can't illustrate it because 

the interpreter .is on the other side? A ',Certainly. 

KR. LEVY: Now, with your lionorre permiesion, liay I 

ask the young lady to step down here and it in front of 

-4-* 
• seated here if you please, Miss? 

(The witness takes her seat in front of the jury box) 

MR. LEVY: Mr. Mustaki, oome over here and placer your.' 



INTERPRetE 

IBM Will you tell us now; MIsS, and in t 

presence of the jury point out the position your hands were 

In when the defendant, as you say, was holding them? 

You want to understand that my body was 

not in this position. It was inclined back. 

MR. LEVY: I unddrstand that. In what position Ware 

T' WITNESS  this way (illuStrating).. 

Now, the defendant wao holding 1:soth.vf.your 

q With the left hand? — A :Yee, sir. 

Q, , Was he in the position that the .interpreter now is? 

(The witness wishes the interpreter to get around' 

here) - But he didn't have his armlike that; he bad his arm 

here (illustrating). 

You were lying in the chair? A Yes, sir. 

was his mouth? A On' my mouth. 

CI Was 1le standing leaning °Ter the chair? A 



•  ct You mean to rhia body was on you? A 

nearly all on me. 

You said something, about both his legs,  both Of hill 

A I did not exactly feel them but I felt on 

of say leg something. 

(1, You did not exactly fee). them? A He was g 

(I Couldn't you bite hls tongue? 

MR. mr COHMICK: I object to that 

sir. 

THE COURT: Then come right back here. 

(Witness resumes the witness stand.) — 



'a correct representation of the dental chair in which you were 

Sitting at the time, or reclining at the time? A This is 

the dentalL6aii7jreferring to the photograph). 

Look at this One. 'What do you Call this? 

THE COUP: Do you want it in evidence? 

MR. LEVY: Yes, sir, I ant going to put it in (Widen** 

(rhe first photograph is narked Defendant's 'Exhibit 

and a second photograph is marked Defendant's , 

Athibit B in evidence.) 

THE MIMS: This is the second dental chair (re. 

ferring to Defehaant's Exhibit B). That is Where I was 

attacked; in that chair. 

q Is that the second chair? 

Ct That is a proper photograph of that chair, 

Yes, sir; a regular dentist's chair. 

TIE WITNESS: Yes, sir. (Referring to Defendant's 

Exhibit B.) 

• MR. YM CORIUM She said she was assaulted 

chair and this is a picture' of tt. 



• 

I ask to have the photograph Ph 

4jury with. your OUor'a permission. 

(The ijuryinspeot the photographs Defendant 

its A and B 

I1R. LEM I want them so as to illustrate my further 

examination. They are receiVed in. evidence, are they? 

•Q, Will you be good enough to look at these two photo.. 

graphs and tell me if they are not correct representations Of 

the reoe ipt ion room of the defendant and_ the entrance to -it? 

Yea, sir; I don't see- the table exactly but that is the room. 

MR MC CORMICM Maybe the tale is on this one. 

THE WITNESS; Yes, sir. (Indicating)-

• MR. MC COMICS: Willwou bring out what part *Of the 

MR. LEVY: lam going to do it 
• 

in the exaMination. 

(Two other photographs are offered and admitted in ., 

evidenoe and marked Defendant's :Exhibits C and D.) 

MR. LEVY: C is the entrance to the haflwar and. D 10 

a view of the entire reception room. 

MIL; MD CORMICX: Will your Honor pert us now to 

withdraw the witness and put Mr. Volckening on the stand, 



if A.1 T 3H. VOLaKZXIG,Witness Called 

on behalf of the People,  *eing duly sworn testified .aa 

(The witne as states that he lives at 115 Decatur street 

Bro oklyn 

BY MR. LEVY: 

Q, Mr. Vo1ckening. Mr McCormick ha e introduced in ev-

idence a diagram purporting to have been made by you, is th 

correct? A That is Correct. 

It is called Exhibit 1? A Exhibit 1. 

Now you have drami that diagram to a scale? A Ye 

sir; I have. 

Q Do so if you pla.a0e. 

(4, Three-quarters of an inch to the foot? -A ye 

Q, Have you your ne asure with you? •A Yes, sir; I have, 

•Q .Tust for the purpose of putting it on record as to 

the measurements I have requested that .you be called 'and 

with your Honor's permission I want to give to the Jury, if you 

please;--iin-d---his Honor, the measurements of the room. This 

room here. Here is the entrance from the hall; A The total 

• Thls room marked the email room with the center dental 

give us the width of thtv room --and the depth Of .the roost 



UTto 
the partition separating the roorrfrom the workroom. 

.Do I make myself clear/ A Yes, sir. The width * the rroOir: 

is 5 feet 10 inches. The depth of the room. from the front 

walltii/ the partition separating the small room from the work-

room is 6‘feet 6 inches. 

•Q Did you, have cc casion if& making this. diagram-to- AtiTake 

the measurements of the chair, the dental Chair in that room? 

A• I located the center of the chair in that 

Q You saw the chair? A Yes,., sir. 

Are you able to give us  the dimensions, the width of  

the obairf A No ,sir. 

Its height from the floor? 

Q, In what part of the room is it located,, in the center? 

A Notquite the center, the oentr of the chair is 3 feet 2 in-

• chez south of the north wall. 
Q Now that is  a window facing 6th avenue (referring to the 

diagram)? A Yes, sir. 
And the  chair is faced towards that window, is  it not? 

A It faoes, the chair, the front of the chair is towirds, the - 
window. . 

Q Could you give the dimensions of the window, the width 
of the window? A 3 feet 2 inches between :the window jambes. 

Q Now the distanee from the first dental chair which I des-
ignate as the first dental chair, this chair, Is seen as you 
approach from the waiting room to the Second dental chair-, is 
it? A Prom the center of one chair to the center of the 
other is about 2,3 feet. , 41 • 

Q What .is thi-iridt-h-bf the door separating the small room.; 
so-called, in which the dental chair was placed,' from the office? 

- A The width of the door? The door opening is 2 feet 10 inches 
. wide, the door Jambs. 



34: 
Ai Did .You.,Tiotice at the tilTLO loU made the d agrag Whether 

there Was a door hanging there? A -I 4i4nAt note.partleularly 

the 'door originally on that opening was an ordinary dbor b t 

that had been removed at some time, and what is known 40.4 

two part folding door had been constructed, each part is* 

17 inches wide, and, of course, the full height of the openint, 

one part could be opened without the other. 

Q But you could open both parts? A swinging, yesTsir, 

• into the main office. 

(1. Let me illustrate that by saying similar' to the min.! 

ing doors that one occasionally sees in front of the cafe? 

A Well, only in two parts. If this was the dotr originallY 

that would. be one part (illustrating), but this door_wagi 

cut through the center; it entered through the center; 

you could open that part, and open the two parts, and that 

the stairs to the. doorwas how far? A The entrance? 

Q The distance from the head of the stairs to the en 

trance door i how far, taking it on a diagonal line? A The 

a half feet, perhaps, five 



Street? A  Two of them. 

And oi the same width a the w ndow: in the Annaller-

Mee? A Yee, sir: the same width, 

q Back of the mall roam there was a space Vial* des-

ignated• upon this diagram as the workroom? A Yes., sir/ that 

is correct. 

You went'into that roam, didntt you? A Yes, slx; 

You took measurements of that workroom? 

loofffia the dimensions to be what? A The width of the 

roam was five feet ten, the same as the small root in front, 

and the depth of the root was five feet. 

Q Dia you see whether or not there were benches construct-

ed around that jork room? A ,Work benches, y 

The width of those benches approximately, about? 

A I skstdh , and I will sketch them here, about 18 to 20 

inches, 'perhaps 19 and a half. 

Q i want you to telllte jUry"whether or not theró was 

any door or partition which separated the smaller. 'roam so-

galled which contains a dental chair? A ''Piltliethir there,*04 

any door separating those two rooms? This partition. . . 

a door, a partition of about seven feet. 



. MR. IScCORMItt: Can you turn the diagrUm so that the 

jury can see it AS these questions are being asked? 

THB WITNES8: Yes, sir. This isthe small roam,. 

designated as the smallroam, and this is designated as the 
is 

work roam. That small roam theroom the young WY Said she 

was attacked in. 

You understancrthe room I am talking about? A Between 

these two rooms there has been constructed a board 

about seven feet high, aaa on the small ro side Of that 

partition thereare two doors, sliding .doors, that may be 

closed in the center of this opening (iialuStrating) tioie 

off that room from this one (indicating) . 

Q Now are they solid doors or glass doors? A Well, 

can't answer'thmt question definitely; they .are doors* 

Q Now, did you notice where the as tanks used by 

to he arplied at the time of extraction, as far as I can 

remember„.was on this side (indicating). 

Q In that small room? A Yes, sir. 

Q, That was connected with what? A Why some connectior 

Q With the tank? A Yes, sir; I could not say whe 

the tank was, but I remember seeing it. 

UR. LEVY: I shall have to dcronstrate that by 

other witness. I wanted lyour recollection at.present, I 



This s one room down by-th41401cline? A Ie:# 

4 -•1.841t there Wilie-a Sett .of.a partition across hero?: A .I 

wo14114nt Call it a partition.. This is an.instruMentease 

or work bench, and behind the work bench are two folding 

screens which were about five feet 'six high._ 

q .These are the .screens? A Yee, sir. 

Q so as -a niitter.of fact there is an obstruction with - 

...the screens drawn? A Yes 

Q Running about hOw high? A. Well, I,shoUld say about 

five'feet.si7k. 

BY MR. MCCOPMICK:.-

Q ]ow LS there a door there (indicating). A When the 

building was built they had a door to enter that whole room,. 

-and in front of that door these two windows have been construct-

ed -and.you cannot pass out of that door;: that door is a solid 

Q Mr. Volckening you were sent 

'by the Diatrict,Attorney? A Yes, sir. 

Q No objection was made by the defendant there to. Es 

offered every facility, and assisted xou-in making.the 



Let me ask you 4 question or two. 

This is one room down by that black line? A'Yes 

But there was a sort of a partition ;woes here? A 

wouldnIt'call it a partition. This is an instrument vane 

or work bench, and behind the work bench are two folding 

screens which were about five -feet six high. 

Q, ithsfle are the screens? A Yes, sir.. 

4 So as a matter of fact there is an dbstruction with 

the screeria drawn? A Yes, sir., 

(t Running about.how high? A Well, I should say about 

five Net, six. 

ceiling? A No sir; not to the ceiling-, 

q Now is there a door there (indicating). A When the 
A 

building was built they had a doors to enter that whole 

and in front of that door these two windows have been conatr 

the door. 

BY UR. LEVY: 

Q Mr Volckening you were sent up to make this diagram 

by the Diatrict Attorney? A Yes, sir. _ 
(14-

Q No objection was made by • the defendant there to. He 

offered every facility, and assisted you tnmakin 



411, 
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.THE COURT then acinioniehed the Jury,. calling their 

attention. to Settion 43.5- of the Code. of Criminal procedo 

uret and toot: a roc se until 2 a ',clot**. 

APT= RUMS.. ' 

MA MT 11, A PA. ULAI LLO IsT, a witness for the_..,roottio 

resumes the stand. 

CROSS RUMINATION CONTINUED BY MR. 

Now, Miss, are you sure that Dr. Roy put his hand um. 

der your clothes? A Yes, sir. 

Q. leal, there any rdason why he should pinCh you or use 

force? A What is that? Because I refused him. 

Q Did you tell him that you refused to allow him to 
- 

have what he wanted? A I could net tell him beoattoo hie 

gue wam in my mouth, but I kicked him, 

-(1 You kicked him? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Are you aware where it was that you kicked him, in 

what part of his person? A I could not tell you where that; 
a. 

wherever I could strike him, wherever 1 could kick. 

Q Do you know whether you kicked him in the legs or in 

the body? A Mostly on the legs I think. 

Q Aren't you sure as to where you kicked him? A Oh, 

don,t know, I didn,t see it; I kicked him, that is all. 

Q He was very close to you wasn't he? A Yes, sir. 

Q Holding you tight. (No answer.) 

Q Was he holdinv you tight? A He was boldng my hand 



q, Did he .hold your .body 

hand and my mouth* 

- .You Said he .harid his hand around the chair? A Yes s 

Q Underneath your neck? A Yea Sir; holding my two 

q Was the hand on your neck or was he 

with his hands/ A Around mg neek. 

Around your neck? A Yes, sir. 

Then he pressed your body cloSe-, 

not, with your ead -- were you horizontal, and was he horizent 

tal? A No, sir, notaltoqether horizontal; 

q

 

Won't you tall us so that We can.understand-V4Wt the. 

positions were. Won't you tell this jury what your position 

was as far as the incline was concerned were you reclining? 

A Perhaps it will help you by telling you that my feet were 

riot or as there a foot rant to 

that Chair? A No, sir; my feet were not on tie foot -of  the  

Chair; they were hanTing out. 

Q -Now we will take Exhibit A. Exhibit Al that is a iair 

representation, is it not, of the chair. Put that in French 

s That is a very representation of the chair? 



o the -Chair in which you 

were?•  A Yo0, tire• 

(On Peop1eT0 Exhibit A the witness pointing to the 

of the chair.) It was down, and the seat of the char

I was seated, 1115r feet extended outside of the seat up; but 

there -was not foot or the chair undez-my feet. 

I do not mean that the chair as shown on Exhibit A is 

chair in the position that it was at A the time when she claims' 

she Was assaulted, but I ine. 1t sa fair .representation 

of the kind of a chair in which she was?' A Yes, sir. I know 

that is. not 4he chair: yes, sir, that is the kind of .1 chair. 

ill notice vies, that there are 

' on that chair? A Yes 

Q Would you Buy that the -chair that you were in at the 

time that you claim that you were assaulted was any wider tha:n 

the chair that you are now seated in? A .That I could not 

Q. Are you able o tell. Nhether the arms of the Chair 

.or the arm rests on the side of the chatr were any high9r 

than the rm rests, f the chair On which you tioN sit -on? 

,A -I did not notice all these aetails.-

Q At what angle were you inclined backwards? 

not understand what you mean 1y angie but 7 was seated OA 

miat chair and he char was inclined backwards. 



I *Ant to be fair with You, and -T went to 

know whether you Were extended perfectly Straight out or 

Whether you were bent forward or whether your body was inclined 

Iwant you to tell the jury what your position 

was at that time. Please try to describe it to the best of 

your recollectioh. Do`you und'erstad me? A Yes, sir; I 

understand what 7ou mean , and I will explain you how the 

bit backward so that my feet were a little bit further up that 

my body and that is the position 1 was lying ip. 

apart, and it is good they were, because' that is the -Only 

'use'I had -- the reason my legs were apart is because that was 
use to 

the only means that I"csuld/defend myself, and consequently 

I had to part them. 

Q Now then, will you tell his Honor and the jury if 

your legs were apart whether or not the defendant was in be-

. tween your legs? A While My legs were open e was not between 

sane time I was preventinghim and defending myself; h& did 

Q Then you must explain that a little more, and I have 

ape ogize for the necessity of asking these questions 

want you to understand that. If he was not between your legs 



in what position wa4 be? A I told you thia meriting th4t h 

ware on top Of me, and he was expecting any minute to act 

the  way be wanted to get if I had not defandedweelf; it 

mar -be he was waiting until I fainted. 

if4 It may be that he was waiting al 

consent) is that so? A PerhaPs, 

Q Then he found out that you mad not consent after 

resisted the  he stopped? A A little While after-

0 until you would 

You olaim.that liteu made It ale 

not give your consent? A Certainly'. 

didn't it occur to you that what the man Wae try-

ing to do was to try to arouse your passions by fooling . 

'around you and manipulating your person or your body for the

purpose of On4Ocing you to give your 'consent? 

ER. McCQPtMIOK .1 °bleat to that. It has been asked 

Did he at any time get between your legs? 

say that he was on your body? A 

When wasit that you had an opportunity to see that 

he had exposed his person? A When I,was tghting hard 

,Jefending myself, T happened to glance and saw his private 



Q Were you very much excitid. then? 

MR. licOORMICK: I object to that, 

Objection overruled* 

I was defending myself. 

Q Now, Miss want you to tell his Honor 'and the -jury 

if that man had his mouth, to your mouth and his tilngue in your 

mouth how you could, if you were reclining in the position 

You say you were how. you Could glance down to see the lower 

part pf. that man's body? A Bet:limes he was raising himself up 

It Now you have told the District Attorney that. you felt 

his fingerupon_ your private parts, is that true? A Yew sir. 

41 Did you at any time while these acts were being done 

(I Once again I have to ask you as I did. thia morn 

are you able40 inform the jury as to the length of time 

this struggle lasted? A I ould. not tell you. 

Q You had been in that desntist Is shop Several tim 

before did yoy not? A Three times 

Q You became -athet friendly with 

v:)u? A No,. never; only spoke for busine0 
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q. When I say friendlx I mean you got on terms of Ads 

amiability with him? A The same way as any one has to be 

polite towards each other* 

Q Never used any word of impropriety to ye12.1, did he? 

A No, sir: never. 

Q And with the exception of what you now complain 

he never, in any way, offended you? A No, sir : only what 

he done- h  took me in a treacherous way. 

q In a treacherous way? A Yes, edr. 

Well, what you mean is he -tried to take advantage of 

you by the reason of the position in whichyou were, is that 

what you mean? A He never, had mentioned a single unkind wor4i, 

to me or at any' time insinuated anything wrong; always treated 

MA in a gentlemanly way because' if he had done óo I would 

immediately have told him to take a walk* 

-.Q. Did he put his hand on any other part of your person ot her 

than your limbs? A No, sir; in the private parts. 

Q How do you.. eiplain, if you Can explain, the fact that 

your shirt waist was torn, and how was it torn? A It was he, 

the defendant, that tore it with his right' hand while I Was 

defending myself. 

Q, Haw do you mean, he grabbed you and tore the vadat? 

A Yes, sir; he tore the waist starting from the _neck (wit., 

ness indicating the collar of the dress at her neck)*, 

q With regard to your stockings he tore the stock-

ings with his right hand? A Yes, sir; bcauIe I 



idnt want to do it and I was defending myself'. 

You didnitt want to do it? A I was defending.myeelf. 

4 Did you know wbat be wanted to do? A ; was 

uEspeoted. 

What do you mean by suspected? ' A I don't know what 

min what did you suspect he wanted to db?--

A 'Because I knew what he intended to do; he intended to d. 

(4, How 'did you know that? A Shall I answer such a 

It is a very delicate 'question to put to me and 

very delicate answer to answer. 

4, Won't you please answer it? 

YoU may hate an 

A I knew that he intended to insert his private parts 

in, my private parts. 

'Now, how did.you know that? A Because I know that 

my mother told me that those things that they are dan 

Q, Did your mother tell you about those things before 

after: this happening? A After I told her. 

Q, Well I am talking about what you had :jn your mind. 

the time that this matter happened. What was in your Viied 



You, :kite* be Was( going to do Or belie'ved: that 

e was going to do? A Because I understood that ilUoh 

an act on his part that..;zay was out of the way. 

What act? A An act on his part c =flitted it 

. of the way; it was not gentlemanly. 

a one out 

But did you know or did yo u believe -- you saidi 

in answer to a question a moment ago that you believed he was 

about to insert his privates into yours.. Did you know or 

'did yOu believe that that was his intention al, qlat time? 

A y e Sir; I knew that that was his intention. 

Then you were more OY less informed with regard to how 

an ac  of sexual intercourse was performed? A Tes, si 

mother always warned me about, to be careful about these 

things, and she described these things to me. 

Your mother described the act of intercourse to you? 

A No, sir; she did not describe it to me, the act, but eh& 

warned me that when a man attempted .o attack any girl t:o be 

careful. 

wonit'pursue it any  fur..the.r, but 1. make a thousana 

apologies for this question Onich it is my .duty to asks You 

say that you got a glimpse of the defendant's private parts. 

Are you able to 'say -- and Ireet that I must ask it, are 

you able to say. whether he man had or had not an erection? 

A That do not know. 

Q, Well are you sure that you saw hi a privates at all?' 

A yea, sir. 



what 
Vihat makes YOU sure that4ousaw Was hityprtft e parts? 

R. McCORM/CK: I Object to that. 

ER. LEVY: - I regret to be compelled to ask it. 

am so sorry but what oan I do? 

THE WITNJSS: I have an idea where the private 

parts, whether a man or woman should be, and therefore 
in 

made no mistake when I saw his private partskthat location. 

Q, Welt the mail, was under your Observation all the time. 

Did you see him unbutton his trousers? A f did not 'see him 

trousers, but when I was going away he was button  

Q After you werereleased from thd chair whg d-idnwet you 

*cream or make an outcry? A Because my. 

hausted: I had no strength to scream. 

Q Why? A Becamse thd excitement and fright and the 

Q Do you still say that the excitement and fright did 

not make you, hystNartoal? A Not hysterical, ny one can b 

crying and be frightened without being hysterical 

q Did you see the nurse in that place, the young worna 

attendant? A I saw nobody there. 

Q, You saw the nurse there when yoU came in? A At the 

start when 1-went there I saw her'. 

Did you see what b.ecame of her? A She wone I" 



q you recogni e YOU 1 saw her? A 'reg. 

LEVY:'Wil .you ask that youn woman to come 

the door for a)# 

q Look at this y ung lady, please. /s. this the girl 

whom you say was the n wham you saw there? A Yea, 

MR. LEVY; Addreasing the nurse) That is all. 

Q When you Vaw her first where was shel,k She vat, by 

the side of the first chair, in the first room' 

• Q Now, then I have to take up another, matter,'and let 

us see if we cannot get along for the present in English. 

have to take up the treatlent that you received there, and 

.that is to say what you were being treated for and what treat.. 

merit the doctor gave you. Did You have any teeth extracted? 

A. No, sir. 

q. What was the treatment that you went theeto receive? 

To have my teeth tilled. 

Q' How-mopy teeth did ;cm require to be 

had to have three filled. 

Where were those teeth situated? A One onthis 

No, sir; they 'were no_t_li 

and the .other two here, and 



One 'below said one. upper on the- left side of your rice? 

' q;Tou had ftratios in those teeth, didn,t you? A, Yom. 

Q Did it require any drilI44. Did the doctor have 

drill those in order to prepare 'the caritiee for filling? 

A Yee) Sir: he had to make holes. 

You used a machine for that purpose, didnc't ,he? 

A Yes, sir. 

in which you sat was a large gas machine by which the gas ar 

anaesthetic were administered, donut you remeMber that? 

,q Do you remember the doctor took his drilling maChlhe 

and.. ruled those teeth, donit you  A Ea didnIt fill my 

teeth. 

QI am asking ru whether he did not drill them for the 

purpose of preparing them for filling? Yes, 

q That was very painful wasn't No, sir, 1 never 

Buttered any .pain. 

You never suffered? A No, 

Q You are' a lucky girl. You didnat suffer when he 

drilled the teeth? A No, sir. 



AI. d n mean:conrag*, 

suffered any pain or not? 

q No pain? AL No, sir; I did not suffer., 

(; He put the drill in your tooth or in your teeth? A 

q And drilled .out those little holes or those little 

cavities to prepare them to be filled, isn't that right? 

I 

You say that that was, not paitfUl.to you? .A.1104 IAir-.... 

Q .Didn't ho,have-to put seine kind of 7,; any kind of ..a... 

drug  or something on-thereliiocaine or something, *0 that you  
-4, - 

should not suffer pain while he was drilling Your teeth? 
.- . 

. sir; because. I never. allow any one to put Any kind of 

or anaesthetic as you deioribel-in ray teeth. aTe.,-0a4r40 

enough to have them drilled without it. 

You may have splendid courage but don't you Uffe 

vain? A 1,do not wait until my teeth pain m that hard /to 

to the dentist, so that I had no pain whataour. 

Q, You did have such cavities that requr 

some plaster or something to fill them up,-didn t he A It \ .4, 



that to dry, so that you could Use yoUr teeth with that tempo.. 

rirY filling on them? 
blaster 

Q, Now how e many teeth had that temporary/filling? 

Two* And in one tooth yet he had to kill the nerve, but 

he had not taken/the nerve out-
/
 

Q Mt had to kill thenerve?A sir. 

Q.ACW d.idflie Tepare that one tooth to  kill tho. nerve 

y putting,Aytig in to it? A he only made a holes 
, 1/4 .; 

'hole, and tbi he 143. rted a piece „of Cotton in it. 

Q. Dad he tmijanything on. rat cotton to at to 4:eadelt 

pain of that nerve *t.i..s4 was uncovered by. his drilling-

the °lel A He did not put anything on he cotton,..He put 

the cot 

and keeping there for he time that you say that he.h'td. 

it there, rolling 4s tongue around-7ourmouth you had thi 

soft plaster tbn there well as the cotton in the other 

q Did he dislodge ti cotton or dislodge the soft plaste 

when he was doing this mouth act? A No, sir; he did not. 

Q, Did you leel any pain,in ,Jour.teeth while he was, doing 

Q, Only the throat? A is, sir; it pained' me, 

Q, What part othe throat pained youi- A-. (Witness - 

tee the tongue being rirrht into her -mouth about three ineben 



n reaching down there.) 

down at your throat how far that tongue reached  • , , 

A (Indicating about three inches Under her He was 

moving the tongue in and out. 

Well  we will pass from that, and we will go to this 

You got up then from the chair? A Yes, sir. 
.-e 

q He did not prevent you risinfrom thechair, did he? 

Yes, sir. 

Q He did not? A No, sir: he did not. 

-q When you go,t up, did you say'anythingto him? -
. 

A. Nota word. 

• Q Did you say to him, "Here you have insUlted, you have 

tried to outrage me" or something to that effect? A I could 

ecause 1 was in fear he might attack Me again. 

our Iroise? A Yes, sir; 

What dd7iou mean by that? A 1 felt 

choking, 1 couldn't bring out any nois.e out Of my throat. 

Q Before you,ttot into the chair you took your hat 

and took your ()Cat off4didn.tt you? A Yes, sir. 

•Q. Were you asisted by the mead or nurse in diarobin 

in taking those -things off? 41 

Q Did you leave them anywhere, put them anywhere? 

threw them on the sofa. 



11,21Yeelf* 

U say a word. to lam? No answer. 

ay.snything to him? Yes; I told him•some"—

thing« 

ct What dia you do? A He tdld Me something he told Me,' 

he gave me, there was a bill in my. cuff of the coat that I saw 

just ,coming out; and I threw i.t in his face. 

Q What I want to know is did. you say 'anything to him 

about the insult that you, received? A. Not sir • ; I aidn t 

say anything . I said —.3-

Q, You found' your voice. Did .you say a word to him from 

the time that you got up from t4e chaii:, until tb.e time you 

left the .place? A Not sir; I didn'st say a word.. 

Di4 he say 'a word to you? A Yes - sir. 

Q, What did he say to you? A lie said. to buY flowers. 

To buy _flowers? A Yes, sir; with the money. 

You believed that he .was fastinated with yoUt. didn't 

You?- A That I do not know. 

Q Then you went home to your mother? A Yee sir; 
- 

Q Did you come back again to that place after that? 

A That night? 

Q That night? ./A.' fes, sir; the same day, 6 o'clock with 

a det4at lye« 

(4, Did you speak to iin thwn :hen the detective was there? 

A I told him sal my st.ory in his presence. 

Q Did you speak to him, not vtnat he other aid? A lio-pri 



Now you say he was stronger than you/. You said that 

this'"rning? A I should think so, 

Q (Referring to the defendant) Will you Btand up? 

Now how much do you 'eight Miss? A 142 I weigh., 

q You are much beaRier than he is are you 

Objected to: objection sustained. 

MR. LEVY: That is all, your Honor. 

RE DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. McCORVICK: 

Q Is that the waist that you had .on? (shoWing, witness 

-Waist? A Yee; that is my waist. 

.(1 'Now just answer the question? A Y 

Q That is the waist that you had on When you went into 

office? A It was all clean 

Q A little hole where? A At the end of the waist. 

Will show it to -you if you give me the waist. It was perfect 

except this hole (Indicating) 

'Q Exce;Aing what? A Excepting here, this hole, that 

(1 That hole was .in it when you 

Q Was there any other tear in 



fl: the swrce condition that it Was when you left his 014c 

Yes, sir; it was not so before the dentist tore it. 

How did that tear come in the beak of it, the back 

neck. A That goes in the front. 

That is the front? A Yes sir. 

q How was that tor ill A :He pulled it away fro 

son. 

q How 'ria.s this hole torn do. you kno 

the struggle that got torn. 

Q -How about these other tears except the one that you 

pointed_oUt as having been it there? A The two holes that -

are there at the end have been made by the laundry., but all 

the rest is done by him. 

Q Which two were "wide by the laundry? A These little 

holes (indicating). 

Q These two holes? A Yes, sir, those were made by 

the laundry because I had it perfect,--

Q, This hole? A Yes, sir. 

Theie holes were made by the laundry? A Yesoir. 

Q But all the other tears .7...tie made by this defendant? 

A Yes, sir. 

MR.IWORMICkt t ogfer the waist in evidence. 

R. LEVY: Just a anoment please. 

BY 9 .LEVY: 

That tear s is in the seam, isitt it?.A Yes, sir; 

4 



Q Thu don,t mean to say' that the uppe4's partw4i0h is 

around the neck was torn, do you? A. Yee, sir; that little 

part there is torn. 
4 

When was that 

00 LEVY: Yes, sit', I don't think it is competent 

as an exhibit at all. It really m:akes very little differ-

ence except that I can 1t well Vit pees '13,r without dbjeb,,, 

• THE COURT: What was, the date? 

MR. LEVY: The 28th of A,:'riA 1913. 

- THE COURT: Where has it.been since Yr. McCormick? 

MR. McCORMICK: Well it has been in theoffice of the 

property clerk at police headquarters. The witness has. just 

sworn that so far as the tears are concerned it is now in the 

same condition as it was when she left the dentist's office. 

THE COURT: You are offering the whole thing in evi-

dence. If taken itwill -0 in evidence. I think you 

will have to show where it has been kept. 

MR. McCORUMCK: I know but this witness eliminateS the 

-necessity for such testimony. 

THE COURT: You think so, but I don,t agree with 

I -can enliqhten 



waiWreferted 0 marked'PeOpIe 0 fthibit 2 

identification,) 

When,did you first discover at your waist was torn? 

A After I told my story to mv mother and I showed the con-

dition of the waist to my mother. 

That was after you had gotten home? A 

Then I make my objection. 

fore I will receive it because if taken at all it will 

have to be taken as it is, not only having regard to 

What has been shown hit the other things may 'exipt.-You 

must show where it has been and how it has been kept and 

whether it is in the same condition. 

If you intend to offer it  latervierhaps 

you might ask some further question's from this witneSs 

with reference to it -.,-if yoU deelre to renew the offer. 

Q :4111 you say it is in the same condition now I mean 

only with reset to tears that are in it -;tbat it was when -

you left the dentist' office that day? A Exactly. 

MR. LEVY: he witness says she did not see the waist-



after oho had gotten home and had ehown,it 

parents. 

MB.VcCORNICK: I will take this Up later with anoti 

witneiglt 

BY B. IfeCORWTen 

Q Now, I show .o.aetocking. A That ie Iny stocking* 

Q . Did you wear that sCcking wben you went into the de-

tist's office? A -Yes, sir: it was perfect. 

Q Do you know which leg it was on? A The right leg. 

q Was there any tear in it at that time? A NO, sir; 

not there. (Witness pointing to the tear on the stock-

When did you first notice  

. that it was torn in that way? 

A When I was showing the'bruists 

I noticed the stocking was torn. 

minutes after I'lefthe dentist* 

Was it in the same con04tion. Did anything happe: 

it between the time you left the dentist's office, and the 

time you showed it to your mother? 

samnway. 
-,t 

Q The same way as it Was when you left the dentist's 



minute to a 

stoekinga?' 

WITNES1,1 

interrupt lir McdormiCk for a 

k if she• Wore kgarters with camps on the 

bad suspenders attathed 

e ? A Yes, sir.. 

McCORMICK: lipw it would be bet er to binr 

that out 'on cross examination or on the re01161040, 

/ offer the stocking in evidence. 

R. LEVY: .2,object to it. 

U714 M'CCORMICK: •Then I will have it ma ed 

identification as peoplels-Exhibit No. 3. 

(The stocking referred to •is marked People.,S 

Exhibit 3 for identification. ) 
- 

THE COURT: Do You 4sire.to ask any queitions pre-

liminary to offering it later from this witness, with 

reference to what was done with it, and when•it Was done 

• MR. McCORMICKCYes, sir. 

BY MR, McCORInCK: 

4 Between the tAMe You left the_dentist,s,office, and the 

time you saw your mother did anything happen to change the 

f 

condition of thin waist? st, 

ER LEVY I object to that as incompetent, ir' 

relevant and immaterialf and not binding upen the 

defendant. 



HE think thr witness says that she weh 

directly home, and in five minutes talked with her 

mother about the matter with reference to the ,waist. 

You might ask her if she went any other place 

if she went directly home. 

Q When ynu left the dentist's office you went 

stairs, aidnat you? A -Yad 

Q Out into the street? A Yes,  

CI Then where did you go? A I went directly home. 

Q You walked first on 6th avenue? A Yes, sir. 

To what street? A To 11th street... 

ct This dentist's office was below 11th street or a 

below wasnrt it? A. What do you mean by that? 

Q Was it between loth and 11th or between 11th and 

12th streets? A. Between llthand 12th streets. 

Q You then walked down 6th avenue to 11th street/ 

When you Tot to your house you went right in? A Yee. 

Q Did you find your mother in there? A Yes, sir. 
Q,What is it, a private house? A No, sir; it is an 

apartment house. 
ci You live there withWhom? A With Paps and mamma. 
Q There are no other members of the family? A No, sir 

Q Was your mother home? A Yes, sir. 
0 Did vou talk with her, yes or no? A-. YelOs sir, 



Did you: mie0 o ),Aer? • 
object to that s' 4 

Natqi000WICI That has been  brought rvil2 withdraw it.: 
A-.Thits:imas in the same condition at that moment that it  

was when you left the de'ntiat's roOm/' A Yes, sir. 

Were the stockings in the same condition then that they 

were  when you 3eft the dentist's room? 

Then after you talked with your mother when was 

how long after this was it that the waist was removed from, your 

A It remained on all day. 

You, kept it on all day? 

mother? A It was about 12 o'clock. 

You kept this waist On until what hour that day? 

about, I stayed' ip that condition all day long, 

with it 

Q Dia you afterward  

1;1 How about the atockin0 

at tho swum time to mo ther 



Yes, eir• 

You don't know What she did with them, do you? 

She put them apart. 

Q, When you gave them to her were they in the same condi.. 

tion that they are now? A Yes, sir.' 

Are they now in the same condition that they were 4. 

I mean as tar as the tears are concerned..., that they %ere when 

you came out of the dentist's office? AYes, sir; because 

the „detective was present and saw the same tears. 

not responsive to the question. 

You left the dent Jet s 

soh? A Yes, sir; I think that is 



BY /A /WY. 

With.this man,. with Roy? A Yes) sir. 

TEE WITS: / told him all that he done to me in 

the presence of Mr. •Deviile and in the piesence of 'Detem.: 

• tive Ditsoh. 
BY MR. NO CORNICE.; 

q You told that to Roy? 

• my heart and my future), you are ruining my future'. - 

Q Did you say anything to that?  A And.I, answered him 

by saying that  he had. no heart to try and rnin my fixture fo 

Wer4 you alone with the defendant before the tilue you 

say he assaulted you? A Yes, sir. 

q Do you remeMber a while ago you were asiced=abolut 

cotton being in your mouth or plaster, hoW large was the 

A I couldn't tell you. 

Q There as it, inside of your tooth? 

It .was a filling in your tooth, wasn't it? • A Yes, 

There wax no plaster outside of the tooth?. 

Q, Where wai the cotton? A In the hole of t 



.Q • In the hole .nside of.. the tooth?: he Yes, Et 

RECR(TS irsICAMINAT/Oli BY Ms LEV't: 

Ct Now) that night when y?u--- came there with the detective 

. this _defendant . denied that he had done you any, wrong, didn't 

He didn't say anything. 

That  did he say? A He said nothing. 

Didn't' you just Say that he  said "You are breaking 

sir,. he said "You are ruining my heart, you are rUin., 

ing my heart you are breaking * heart, you are ruining my 

Q Did you. hear him say to the detective "I did no isirOng 

to this young woman at all? A NO, sir; I did not hear that. . 

spoken? A Mostly French. - 

• Didn't he, say- to you "I have don you no wrong. I did 

not injure you in any way at all. You are ruining ray future by 

making this charge against men? A No, sir; you. just break my 

heart and my future; he only said "You. are breaking my heart 

Wasn't there anything else said? A 

• q Did the detective say anything to him? 



•Q to -thefendant. don t care about -the 

tective. A I told the defendant the whole Story as I told it 

here in Court 

AZ J/Illat did you want to tell the defendant the Whole. story 

for? IA- Because I was compelled to 

Q Who .compelled you to say it? A Tobody forced me but 

it was my duty to say it. 

By TliE COURT: 

Q, Madam, didn't you say that you told the detective and 

thls other gentleman everything that had happened to you in 

the presence of the defendant? A Yes, sir. 

q Well now didn't the detective and this Other perecn when 

you told them that, didn't they say something to him? A 

Didn't you hear a everything that 

A They spoke before I went there myself. 

q Were you there when they spoke? 

to represent to thejury that neither Mr. 

Devine or the detectite'said anything to\the prisoner when you 

outlined to them everything that had happened to you that morn-



etOry but I did net hear them say alkyth 

the :defendant 

half of the People, being duly sworn, testified a* follwws: 

(The witness _states that hie address is NO* 480 Central 

Park West.) 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. MO COMEIMC: 

Q Mr. DeVille, what is  your-.but3iIietie? A I am an offici-

a]. interpreter of the court of General Sessions, New Yifrk Cotinty 

Q Did you see .Miss Poulaillon on the 28th of April; 1913? 

9 Where was she When you first saw her? A At be 

eats' residence, at her residence, Which I believe is No. 128 

Vest llth street. 

Was the defendant there; that is the question., 

MR. MO CORMICK: Well I want to know Who else was 



BY MR. MC CORkICKV--

Did you .0 any place Or did You see the defendant that 

Mgr A I *did, 

4

 

What time? A 6.40 p4 mu 

q Where? A At his ffice. 

q Who else was in his office at that time? A Thera ' 

were three or four patients, one of them on the operating Chair_ 

and two -or three others sitting in the main room. 

When you went into his office that day were you alone? 

A -I was accompanied by Officer Ditedh. 

4. Any one elee? A That is all. 

Now tell the Court what happened after you got into the-

A Officer Ditsch asked him if he was Dr. Albert Roy 

and he answered in the affirmative, he said "Yes." He -Said, - 

"You had better finish your work with the patients that you 
_ 

have in the room and I will talk to you afterwards." - And 

after Dr. Roy was through with the patient he had:on the chair , 

he came outside in the hall and wanted to know what was 'wished : 

of him, Then Officer Ditsch informed him that Mademoiselle 

Poulaillon, the complaining witness, .had complained against him 

in that he had attempted to rape her between the hours of 11.30 

and 12 o'clock noon that same day. 

q Where was she? A She was there, your Honor. 

vras fully 10 to 15 Minutes conversation 'sad after that 



nearly a quarter after 471 .esuggeSted'thit Miss Poulain= 

should pe telephoned for. That WaS done and Mrs. Poulaillon 

Came with her father. 

4 Have you told us all the conversation that eitheiSitseh 

or you had with the defendant? A Sof 

tip to that point? A NR, sir; there was a conve 

tion in the hall first. 

4 That is what I want,, the conversation with the defendant 

had with you. A Well Officer Ditsch informed the defendant 

that he was a pone% offiaerand that I was an interpreter in 

the Court of General Sessions and that I had been asaigned to 

or requested to accompany him on that day. 

'q What language was spoken? 

Ditsch and the defendant spoke French. 

q Now give us the  just what the defendant 

A Part of the time the conversation was or would re 

vert into English and back again into French. He td hint he 

was charged with the crime of attempted rape and he said--

q Who said? A The defendant said to the officer *You 

know, Officer, you can't believe byatorical womenw or wordi to - 

that effect, and he says.- Officer Ditsch then said sThectcy, 



"Did yoU administer any anisthetig_ f any Sort to her?" He 

Said "ft; with the exeeption Of a local. application of cocaine . 

on the tooth affected. There were several other phrases iri-

hanged between them but I have no clear recollection of 

them.' ft Then it was. suggested that Miss Poulaillon should be 

She came? A Yes, air; I telephoned myself and she 

came accompanied by her father. 

q Now \Cat happened when the five of you vre there? 

A Mr. Ditsch, the officer, said to her, "Mademoiselle,_ wil/ 

you repeat the charge you made against this men, the Aharge You 

made against this man; repeat the story you told Mr. DeVille 

and myself in your house." Then she started briefly 'retiting 

with your Honor's penuission. 

THE COURT:  Yes, whatever was said in the presence of 

Off icerDitsch said to qier "Is this Dr. 

you accuse of having assaulted you and 

the adiall back roam to. the right and  she says, 'Over in 

that room. I was seated on the operating di air at the 

"What did he do to you?* And  then she start 



stating thatthe was . on. the. operating .chair and that the 

doctor requested her to-keep her MOUth. open dna 'V&A She 

did sop and that a moment or so later she felt both her 

hands grasped Or placed in this position (illustrating), 

and later thrown up to her Shoulder; that she was holding 

them or he was holding her hands with one aim, the left 

arm, I believe, and simultaneously he leaned over and 

placed his mouth against her mouth, his lips against her 

lips, and inserted his tongue into her mouth, and that he, 

placed his hand on her leg and gradually began working his 

hand up heiright.leg, that then She began resisting with 

all the force that she could command but by that time the 

doctor had reached her knee and while she was raising her 

leg up and,'down he pressed it hard and .it pained, her a 

good deal. Pinally She kicked hiM or punched him and 

extricated herself somewhat. At a certain moment he 

placed her hand on his privates and after that he backed 

out and she got off the chair, and that at that moment 

she saw that his trousers were unbuttoned and that his 

privates were visible; that he lifted his left arm and 

unhooked a hook which was attached to the doorwhich is 

a telescope door and he opened the door and buttoned him. 

self and walked out in the front office. 

of her coat to put it on and he stopped her in the outer 

root and inserted a one dollar bill in the flap of her 



sleevel she 'saw the edge of* the bill* took it out.; •threw. 

3.114 at his face opened the door and ran dom., and she- told . 

ma • she didn't see any one in the hall; she didn't-see any 

one in the front roam*. and saw no one on the stairs. 

q xs this what she said to the defendant? A Someque 

tions were put to her in the presence of the defendant 

of it was a continuous recital. 

4 All of this in the defendant 'a presence? A Yes, sir; 

no one else except I heard a., little noise in the back room and* 

I realised there was a person in the small roam. 

the doctor and he said "It is the nurse." Then Detectiye 

Ditsch and I.walked through the door into the back room -and 

looked at the chair and, looked at the wash stand and Mademoiselle 

walked in and pointed to the place where she 

she was in more or less and .dhere the doctor 

that Detective Ditsoh oalled the nurse aside 

conversation with her. 

Q, With whaM/ A With the nurse. girl Who was in attend-

ance there. It was within our hearing and I stood two 

Is that all the conversation any one had with the de. 

fondant? A Practically all. The defendant said, "All this 



is not true.** And Miss Poulaillon. answered, MousieUr, you 

know very well 'Oat every word I hate Said is the, truth.. 

Q That . was the. Oonvereat ion in the dintist 'a office? 

Q. What did. you and Dits h do with the defendant9 

is as far as I can remember. 

q Was the defendant arrested? A The defendant then was 

told by Ditsch that be was under arrest. 

q what did Ditsch do with hie A He had peamiSsion 

to fix up some !matters, some friend'of his *as either outside. 

or he called him in through the girl, he came in and they had 

a little conversation together in private and the defendant 

put his hat and coat on and we walked towards the Charles Street 

police' station. 

Ci You went out of the building his-offiCe was irel 

You were on 6th avenue? A Yes.; 

Q Then you went south, did you? A I don 't kno 

it is south or southwest. 
IV' 1 

You walked on the street? A 

Who walked' with the defendant? A Detective Ditschi 

Were you walking berhind them or in front of them? A 

was walking in front the complaining witness was between her 

father and myself, we were walking in front. 

t), You w ent to the Charles street station? A, Yes 



Di4 you hear. the defendant say anything to Ditsch on the 

way to the litatitin house? A Yes, tiro I heard him ask pit** 

whether he Could not speak to the complaining witness's 

Q To Whom? A To the complaining witness or 'to the 

father, and Ditsoh You speak to her yourself if you want 

I can't stop you." Or something of that sort. 

fendant came abreast of us and said *Mademoiselle , you know 

that this prejudice no &Il a ruin tome." It was said in' French. 

"You know that this mans complete ruin to me." In Pienoh. 

And Mademoiselle said to him; "And you, sir, wouldn't you have 

ruined me had I not been able to resist you? And at that -ticie 

there was a Oar orossing and Ditsch pulled the defendant batk., 

We crossed 8th avenue and proceeded towards the Charles street 

Q That is all you know about it, is it/ A More or is 

Q, re there something else? Did you hear the defendant 

talk _about this case at any time after that? A. I did not. 

Q. Were you present when he was arraigned in the station 

q Were, you present in the magistrate's court? A I was. 

q You didn't hear him say anythifigihich was not already 

testified to? A No, sir, I did not.t 

CROSS BIAMINCION BY MR. LEVY: 

q Now, Mr. DeVille, the purpose of going to see this do* 

fondant at hip office was for the PurPOSe of procuring from him 



some admix:stone that. Might be inJuxioue to him wasn t that 

, so? A 

.4 wou I only Want to get at the-*truth, DeVilao • 

there must have been a motive in .go-ing there. A I Went.. 

there at (-the request of some one if you .wish to know. 

.4 But you *nt there and the girl Was ,a$nt for for the 

-purpose of having her rehearse her statement in the presence and 

hearing of the defendant, to hear what he would say, iantt that _ 

Now if that was probably the purpose •Cf it won't you 
, 

tell his Honor and -the Jury after the girl recited her story 

as to the alleged Indignity which she had been aubjeeted 

what did he say, what did he say? A .On two or three occasions 

What did he say, my dear Mr. Delfille, tell us what he 

said, what did he say? Try to give us his langsge an nearly 

as your mempty-will. help you out. Did he say "I am-not guilty 

- of this thing. I didn't do it.* Or anything like that? 

• use his language. A What I remember is *Mademoiselle, I did-

n't do all this. You know I didn't do all these thinga." 

And her answer back was *You know, air, that .1 am telling the 

truth,* or aomething of that !sorts 

Now, ay dear Mr., DeVille p take up for instance when Mr.. 

Ditsoh, the. Officer Ditach said tO h.im Vow you are charged with 



the crime Of attempting to rapet;this girl. That did he say 

An answer to that'? A His answer to that 'was.r. *You know 

What a hysterical woman will charge .a man-with•doing." 

411 *And- I didn't do it*? A "I didn't MO it,* 

*I didn't do it?" A Yes 

(4 Then he was insistent upon his. innocence, wasn't 

not your conception of it, • the words he used, 'insisting he waz 

innocent of this charge?  A Why, I could have construed it , 

if you want my own construction.. 

/ don't want your construction. A My own construe,. 

tion is far fetched and I don't want to give it. 

g, You are nOt, authorized to give your construction. --

may giYe his language. Can't you say whether he denied he 

wae guiltr of this? A At the time I was advised-by...-

4; Never mind, by somebody? A By some one to write it 

down. I was advised by a 0133f$ one to write it down that day 

so that I should not make any Mistake. 

Q The point of my inquiry is very clear- and I am go-

ing to let you go quickly-. in answer to the officer he aad 

"I am not guilty of this, you know what a hysterical woman wi 

Q, In other words he turned to the girl and said *You know 

I didn't do these things, I am not guilty of this*? A A3.1 

his answers... it is an utter impossibility for any human being, 

tO repeat conversation of 15 or 20 minutes-- all his answers 



were to the effect that he did not dO it but if he Could apolo. 

gize in any way he would gladly do it. 

Q, In other words he said "I am standing face to face 

with ruin. .you are making this accusation against me. Ya 

t do it but if you think an apology will do any 

to make an apology to you." Did he say that? 

Apology was spoken simultaneously. 

He said You know this means ruin tome. I am a prom 

fessional man. Making an accusation against.me, the accusatior 

itself means ruin!" A Yea, sir; he didAispeak about it, it 

was of his_mother and of his future career. . He kept on talk-

The point of the mAtter, Mr. DeVille 

develop before this jury is that he said "The mere fact that I 

am charged with such a thing, I being ,a dentist is enough t 

ruin me" isn't that right? A He said "This means complete 

q But the substance of what I Said? A The 

was that it would mean complete ruin to him. 

Q And that he was not guilty of this. offense? A 

three or four occasions he said he was not guilty. 

q He said that in so many words, did he, Mr. 

"I am not guilty"? A "I didn't do that. / didn It do that. 



During the entire conversation he never retracted it 

or changed it? Don't give any construction of what he maid* 

At no time did he withdraw it, but kept on saying "He didn't do 

at no time' did he make an admission. 

he spoke upon the subject he protested that 

he didn't do it? A He said he was not guilty in various ways. 

BY ne W dORWMCK: 

reparation in French.- he used:— those words were mentioned -

on two or three occasions. 

q so that she shouldn't press the charge against him? 

the word reparatcon corresponds either with reparation or apology 

Did he say he wanted to make reparation? A Yes, sir; 



you say so? 'What did he say A Well, 

if there were any wayor any means of pesrmitting him to make 

reparation- to her so that he should not have to undergo the or. 

deal of arrest and trial-. it would seem ruin to him..., be was 

ready and willing to do it. 

q When he was charged with having subjected the young 

lady to an indignity didn't he say "I don 't know anything 

about ito and then the defendant said if he had done anything 

to her he could apologize or would apologize or offer any ex-

cuse if he had done anything impolite to her? A That was in 

the hall, that is outside, that was the first tinm. 

That was the,substanae of it/ 

The word reparation in English means a good deal more 

than reparation in French, doesn't it? A It does; it means 

to mks amends in English. 

417 If I should tear a ladYts dress or step on it I would 

• make a reparation and that would be an apology? A It may go 

further than an apology but it does not have the.,, exact meaning 

of the word reparation in English. 

A It doesn't mean to make good what he has done bad, but . 

in the polite language of the nation he was to make an apology? 

A Make amends; that is the proper,translation.-



c, 
through Official Interpreter Mustakio testified as fOnOWS 

(The wittess states she lives at 128 West 11th .street,)  

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. MC CORMICIC; 

Mrs. Poulaillon, you live with your husband at 

that address? A. -Yes • sir. 

Q, And your daughter at that address? 

Before the 28th of April this year did you go with your 

daughter to the deferldaht, to his dental establishment? 

A Yes, sir; I had been with her several times. 

Q Did you see your daughter about 12 o'clock in the day.. 

the on April 28th? •A Yes, sir. 

Q Where were you at the time? A I was at home when she 

morning when she went to go to the dentist's? A She had an 

appointment at 11 o'clock with the dentist that day. 

about 12 o'clock when she came 

Did you let her in at the door? -.A - Yes • sir. 

Q, What did your daughter do when the. door mas opened? 

MR. LEVY: Not what she said, but what she did. 

THE WITNESS: When she entered she fell into my arms. 



Whet Wan her condition? 

ZEINt I Object to that it he 

don't think it is competent, material or relevant as to 

what her condition was then, 

THE COMM': You may answer what was her 

MR. LFThTY: Exception if you please. 

could not exactly explain her condition, but she wae silent) 

she could not tals, and she looked dazed. 

Q Can you say anything else in regard to herconditiO0 

She was full of emotion and he was crying and I was con* 

pelled there to ask her what was the trouble. 

ct What was the condition of her clothing? 

make the same objection, if your -Honor 

Objection overruled; exception. 

You say her waist was torn? 

(I Did you notice the waist as she went out that morning? 

. Yes, her thigh. 

don't answer this question until it is passed '11,1)0 



and irreleTant, 

THE COURT: Did she make 

mention any name?, 

MR. LEVY: I object to that question. Now wait, Mr, 

Interpreter. I object to t as not campetdnt, material or 

Objection overruled; exception. 

sir; she told me the dentist.-

MR. LEVY: Pardon me, your Honor. I subMitf our 

Honor, that any statement made in the absence of the ,da* 

endant is hearsay. As to whether she mtde complaint, 

of course the courts have held that statement may be giTen 

in evidence, if she made a complaint, but the •snbetsoce of 

the complaint,,the purport of the complaint or anything 

is not competent. 

THE COURT: You may ask if she- mentioned any name in 

connection with the complaint. I wiU take it. 

MR. LEVY: That calls for oestegorialia tanswer, 



Yes., air. 

(1 Whose name was it, what was the, nain-e? 

MR. LEVY: I object to that ao not competent 

Object ion overruled except ion . 

A She said it wa,s, the dentist tried to abuse me. 

MR. LEVY: You see the answer is not responsive,' your 

THE COURT: Strike it out. Can you not give her the 

quest ion so that she can answer it? (Addressing the •inter.. 

THE WITNESS: She did not mention. any name but: we. are' 

apt to call anybody like that a: dentist. 

MR. LEVY: I move that the latter part of the answer 

THE COURT: Strike it out. 

MR. LEVY: The first part that she did. not 

name I take it, is to stand, your 



..T*. COURT: She 1.May answer. that. 

Except idn. 

It is very dOult on an occasitin like .that and tile condi.. 

tion.iin which she was when she Came 

told me Roy , 

It was eitherone or the other? 

4„ Do you know wkvther this was the waist she wo 

morning? A Yes • sir. 

• Did, you notice hoar it was.when she came back? 

Was it torn? Row wpm it torn when she„came back? 

Around the neck and on the side. 

4, Did she give you this waist that night, ao you re 

A I don't remember how it was done. 

Did you give this waist to any 

4 Tile time that. you gave. the waist to tile police ofTieer 

was it in the same condition that it was when you got- it from 

your daughter? A Yes sir. 

mean in reference to the tears. 

'4-1w ihit stocking in the me condition when 

it to the police officer th07'144als when your daut4ter gave ii 



to you? A Yee, sir. 

4, Was that officer Ditsoh? 

the name but he is Very big. 

MR. LEVY: I have no questions to ask the lady. 

BERNARD TTTCH., a witness called on behalf of 

the People, being duly sworn, testified as follows: 

(The witness states that he is attached to the 29th pre-

cinct,detective division.) 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. NC CORNICE:: 

(1 You are a member Of the New York police force? A Ye 

this defendant on the 28th of April? 

About between half-past five 

eight o'clock, from half-past 5 to 8 o'clock. 

Q Whore? A At his dental office, ,156 6th avenue, pr 

Who was with you? A When I tent there first Mr. De-

g I am talking about the first time you 

ct, Now tell us what happened when you and DeVille went in. 

to his_ office. A I called the defendant out. 



8'5 

hi° name and he nai5 "lb' name is Albert Q, Roy." I asked him 

if he waS a dentiat. He said rtes." I asked the defendant if 

he had treated, in the afternoon, a lady named Miss Martha 

Poulaillon, and he said "Yes." I asked him if he noticed an 

thing in the lady's behavior, if she was hysterical, and he said 

I said "Did you treat her?" 

• "Did you uee any anaathetic ln the line of eitherlaugbing.gas 
V. 

or 000aiflO?" And he said "Yes, I treated her teeth and I made 

a local application of cocaine at the tooth to be treated." 

I asked the defendant if that would produce hysteria in a per-

informed him then that the complaining Witness charged 

him with having assaulted her and tried to rape her While in 

the dental chair, and he said "No, I didn't do that." 

askea the defendant while the lady went out if he had put a 

dollar bill in her sleeve, in her cuff, and he said "No." So 

he requested me if he could see me alone and I said "All right." 

He went in the hallway and he said to me, "Now this woman is got-, 

ing to ruin me. What shall I do? Do you think I should apolo., 

gize to her for anything that would not be polite?" I told him, 

"No, if you are innocent I wouldn't offer an apology for any. 

to come in again to the dental office. 



your' Hottor gle conversation was ended there until Mt. Poulail-

Ion cane with her, the father and mother. When they were 

present I requested Miss Poulaillon to repeat her .otorYiwhieh 

she did. So I asked the doctor, after she related her story, 

"What have you got to say about this  He said, *I didn't do 

that  and he said to Miss Poulaillon, "You are going to xviricno, 

and she said, "Sir, you tried to ruin me also." And she called 

himanother name, "scoundrel," or something, in French, 

"filou", Which means scoundrel. So I placed the doctor under 

arrest and proceeded to the harlesr Street statien house. On 

the way over he asked MR again, he said-, "Don't you think 

could talk to her?" I said "You are under arrest and the best 

, 

. thing is to say nothing to her or engage in 

He, slipped away again and what he said at that time I don't 

CI Did you have any conversation with the defendant on the 

way to the'station house other than what you have testified to? 

q Or at any other time after that? 



oeS it relate to this case? No• answer) 

MR. IMMT: I object to that. 

THE COURT: If it has no relation to this cikee we will 

not go into any outside case. 

BY' MR. me conmIeK: 

Q, In relation to this case did you at any time have any 

conversation with the defendant not already testified to? A 

do not recollect, 1 don't remember. 

THE COURT: I will ask you to take up the cross ex.. 

amination tomorrow morning, Mr. Levy. 

(The Court then admonished the jury calling their at. 

tent ion to Section 415 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 

and adjourned the further trial of the case until tomorrow 

Rriday morning, Xanuary 9th, 1914, at 11 o'clock.) * 



Q Officer Ditsch, on or about the 28th 

year did you receive from Miss Poulaillon-any property? 

be able to identify therm if you saw them? 

Q Are these the articles (handing witness 

stocking)? A That is the stocking, That is 

remember what day it was you received them/ 

MR. IBM X object to that, sir, as not competent 

4 Was it in the same condition, as far as the tears are 



When you received those articles from her what did you  

do with them? A I them in my possession. 

% Row long? A'or about two or three weeks, I am not 

Where did you keep them? A Kept them in myown borne! 

Were they wrapped up? A Yes* sir. 

Q And. what did you then do With them? 

them to the property clerk's office. 

Q Was the bundle unwrapped before yau,delivered it to 

the property clerk? A According to •a, rule of the department 

every artIcle .yes, sir; they were unwrapped. 

Q. nay were unwrapped?. A Yes, sir. 

Q Ybu saw them? A Yea, sir. 

Ct. Was that bundle the same as it was when you received 

it from Miss Poulailion? A -Exactly, yes, sir. 

q What is the nem; of the man you delivered it to at 

police headquarters? A Officer Tloho. 



4 Were they in the :same bundle they were wrapped up in 

when you left them there? A. Yes, sir. 

Q- Got them from the same officer? A Yes, giro 

q Are they in the same condition now as what they were 

you got them originally? A Yea, sir. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BVIIR. LEVY: 

Q I am curious to know, Officer, Why you, an official 

should take the exhibits and keep them in your awn home instead 

that? A The -case was not entirely disposed of. There is a 

rule of the department not to• turn in the good until the pase 

is disposed of either before the grand jury or in the agis 

q Isn't it usual to leave articles such as this exhibit 

in the police station? A No, sir; not in the detective divisi. 

on, not in the detective bureau. 

A Exhibits are kept by detectives at least in their own 

them until the case is dispa3ed of. We keep them in cocaine 

cases, in those kind of oases, we keep them until the matter 

is disposed of in the lower court. 



half of the People, being duly sworn tostified,as .f011trge; 

DIRK= EXAM= IO2 BY mo me. Co*Op 

4 What is your position? (No answer) 

Mr. Tioho, are you a: member of the New York police 

'CI What position do you hold? A 1 beg pardon. 

Q What position do you hold at present what position, 

what is your work/ A I am a patrelman.detailed to the central 

office squad, assigned to duty in the property olerkla 

Q Did you receive any property from Officer Ditich? 

Q In the moonth of May, 1913? A About May 2nd. 

Q Do you know What it was? A On May 2nd Officer DitsCh 

ht. in one shirt waist and one stocking. 

Did you see them When they were brought there? A Yea, 

Q Are you able to identify them now? 

Are these the articles (showing witness a waist and 

A Yes, six; that is the property I received. 

Q Are they in the same condition now that they were When 

Are they in the same condition as they were when you 

4 When you received them what did you do with them? 



wrapped them up., tied them •upt. marke.id 'theta oind put them vrIth-,.. 

in the regular place. 

CI is that the paper you wrapped them up in? 

them to Mr. Ditsch? A Yee, elr, 

Q They are in the same condition now that they were when 

you got them? A Yes, sir; the same now as when I received 

THE COURT: Have you anything, Mr. Levy? 

MR. Nr CORNICE: The People have no other: witness ex. 

(milting a Dr. Blank. I had him on the phone about 45 min. 
r,-

utes ago and he said he would be here shortly after U. 

Now I will rest the People's case but 1 would alike to have'• 

the privilege of calling the doctor if he appears. 

THE COURT: Have you any objection to that) !Are Levy? 

MR. LEVY: do think the People should finish their 

MR. MC CORNICE:: The People will rest. 

evidence the shirt waist and the stocking. 

MR. LEVY: I object to them as incompetent, 



TIM .0 MAT I will take 

hibit 2 in evidence and the stocking referred to is marked 

People,S Exhibit 30 

MR. LEVY: May it please your Honor, I respectfully 

move that your Honor 'direct the jury, in accordance with 

the provisions of Section 410 of the Code of Criminal Pro. 

oedure, upon the ground that the People have failed to 

establish facts sufficient to sustain the indictment andi-

especially becau#e of the fact that there is no testimony in 

this .t*,45 
8e tending to support or corroborate the testimony 

of the complaining witness. I direct my motion as to each 

count in the indictment. , 

THE COURT: Motion denied. 

felMR.
 LEVY. Your Honor will pie ae give me an exception. 

jury the first count in the indictmiant4Apon-the grounds 

THE COUFW: Motion denied. 

this time, to state to the jury, if you please, that your 

jury as any expression of opinion am to the facts on the 



TI OURP: That is so, gent lqmen• It is. a. legal 

matter that I have to pass upon. It only mesas that, in 

my judgment, the' matter is one for you. 

MR, LEVY: I also request your Honor, if you please,. 

to direct the District Attorney to elect under svhich 

count, in this indictment, he intends to submit the oase. 

MR. OOLLIGAN: If the Court please I don't think it 

is Obligatory on the part of the District -Attorney at this. 

stage of the trial to elect. It seems to me that it is 

the:wiser thing. to allow the entire evidence to be. ProdUced 

first. That is it • It is ray opinion7that even then 

In order to economize time, your Honor, I 

serve Whatever Comments I had to make, until the close of 

the case, and will not open the case to the jury. 

think you will need with the 

MR. LiSA: My impression is that all the testimony 

can be submitted by recoils time but I am only going to 



„.01! witnesset. 

W '0 0 D 11 00 .0alled.. n'1)ehaif 

o the defendant, being duly sworn-, teatiied as"follOwal 

DIM= EiCAIMTATION BY-. MR., LETT: 

105 Welt 50th. street. 

Now, Charlotte I don't want you to be nervous. 

Q, Where do you i1've? A 105 West 50th street. 

With whom do you live? A Mother and Father. 

Arc .you eniploye? A Yee, sir. 

Whereand by whom? A By D. Roy, 159 6th avenues 

q, Smpldyed by the defendant, pr. Roy? A Yes, sir. 

Q, How long have you been in his employ? A About eleven 

Q, An attendant in the office of Dr. Roy? A Yes, sir. 



clean the whole place and I, am generally useful there: 

4. You, mikire Yourself generally useful to tAatjeflta.io. 

come there? A 1.00# sir. 

Q, Is that correct? 

Do you know a young woman by the TIELMO 

A Well I don't know her, but I have seen her. 

4, Did you see her in the month of April of last ye 

Yes, sir. 

Q, How many times before the day thatt the doctor was az. 

rested had you seen her? A I think it was about threor four. 

q Where had You Peen her? A In the office. 

She had comeclthere .for, the purpose of getting treat-
+. 

Do you remember the day that the dpotor wai a 

On the day of this arrest? A Yes, sir. 

Do you remember see ing the young lady, Miss Poulaillon, - 

in the office there? A las, air. 

(1, Was .she-ttre for treatment? 

17as she treated? 



Q, 4111 You *peak -up? A Yea, sir, 

q Do you rememhex" what time it via that she,,Oame into 

e place? A It was about haltopaet ten when ehe oame 

About half0paet ten? A Yee, sir. 

- 41 How long vas !he in the place all together? A We 

Q, To the te at of your rec oll ect ion about 

hour and a quarter I think. 

'Now, before we take up, that 

quire about the offices itself. 

that office, in that place? A Three, X think. 

Q, There is a little mien room with an operating chair. 

it, is there not? A Yes, sir. 

There is a larger room with an operating ohair in 

Q Now, can you ten the jury hew large 



cl TO. which is attached maChinery? A Yes 

1Por te pumping _CI* the gas, is that  •COrreet? 

ta How close to the operat ing chair is that machine? 

A • It is right at the foot of it. 

You have seen that 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Does the rnachine make any noise while being operated? 

sir; it does. 

Q, What kind of a noise? Can you describe it? ,A Well, 

like a soda water fountain when it is turned on. 

Like a soda water fountain wtien turned on? A 

Q, So that you were familiar with the sound that came from 

the machine while it was being operated? A Yea, 

Q So if you were in an adjoining rocm, or near by, 

would recognize the sound? A Yes sir. 

ri Even though you woe not in the room- when 

Q. • Now, on that morning what 'was the 'first thing that you• 

.saw the young woman, Miss Poulaillon, do when she came into the 

A When she came she came in and took off herhat 

and. coat and sat on the Davenport there. 



When, she cme.. in were there othei persona thipre? A/441 

the  man waiting there. 

A Man waiting? A Yes, sir. 

4--W1tere was the man 

op osite Miss nulaillon. 

In the reception room? 

A He was sitting right 

have a photograph oi that reception room. 

ask you to loox,at this, vrith your lionor'S permission. 

Now aan you point out where the man was sitting) not 

culaillon. A Right here. 

Right there? A There was a chair right there and that 

Where was Miss PclAlaillon 



• taken into the operating room for„treatmant? NO ens we r ) 

4 About how icing? A About half-an hour I gumemy 

_

 

That is that? A About .half an :hour I'guets, 

During the time she was sitting in the office did she 

have on her outer garments? A She had on a white waiet and 

She sat withOut, her coat? 

14 Did she take her hat off? A 

Did the man go out before sir 

gone by the time Miss Poulaillon went in for treatment? 

A We'll when she was getting treated,... when  Miss Poulailion 

came in. and after she was trea.ted the man went in the oha 

and then he went ,and then Miss Poulaillon went in it. 

(4, So when the time came for Miss Poulaillon to receive 

her treatment ti-are was no other person in the office except 

In what room was the big chair? A That wae in the 

big room, right next to the sitting room. 

Q, Did you see what was done to her in that big chair? 

A Well I don't know ,vhat was done to her but I know Dr..Roy 



How long did that treatment take in that outer roam, 

do you recollect? A Well I know it was just twelve 

when she' went in to the larger chair. 

4 HoW do you know that? A Because I was hungry that 

day and I kept looking at the olcok. 

dinner hour to come; I was watching the clock. 

Then when she went into the inner room did you hear 

anything said either by the young woman or by the doctor? 

the inner room; I mean the smaller room. 

Do you know -what language they were 

A I think it was Prenoh. 

4 You don't understand Frenoh? 

Do you know or did you see Where that woman went to 

the smaller room? A She vent to thee operating chair. 



YOU saw her there? 

Did you see how long she remained in that chair? 

Did. you have 000481;011 to go into the root* and see her 

while she was in that ()hair? A .When X heard the gas flachin 

I looked in and I seen her there. 

A That is what I want to get You. did.. hear the gas 

machine operating? A Yes, sir. 

(I Alter she had gone into the smaller 

You heard the sound come from that machine? 

use it it makes a noise, andI looked 

I seen the gas hood over her face. 

CI The gas hood put over her face? 

(1, Is there a gas machine in the outer room? 

The only gas_machine is in that inner room? 

Then What was the next thing you saw concerning the 

younewoman/ A Then I heard Dr.Jtey come out into the other 
F. 

room to get some instrument off the table there and.he *era 

back again and I looked in again and seen him with this.instru—



mut- in• this girl's mouth. 

q Thep, bor long did you notice that the doctor remained 

in the inner room, or the smaller roemi-before you aga 

him? A Before I saw him again? 

Q Yes, A Why, he cane out with this instrument, he 

went back again, and then a couple of minutes iifterwards he 

came out. 

Q, A couple of minutes? A Yes, sir, 

Q Is there a door between the smaller rook and the room 
• 

in which you were? A Yes, sir. 

Q Mat kind of a door is that? A It is a black door, 

like' two parts to it, 

Q, A sliding dope A Yes, sir. 

It was open or closed.? A They were open. 

Q AU the time? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you see them closed at any time? A No, sir. 

Q, While the young woman was there? ' A No, sir; not while 

she was there. 

Q So that you could ,get a full observation and view of 

this smaller roam? A Yes, sir. 

Q The chair Which is in the smaller room, that is an or-

dinary dental- chair, isn't it? A Yes, sir • 

Q It has side arms, hasn't it? A Yes, sir. 

Q I show you Exhibits A and B and ask you if this is a 

true representation of the chair that was in use on that day 



r the chairS* A That is it. :(Referring.to -the phOtograph) 

Q Did you hear any cry, outcry, any oncryinoutt g 

Q After the doctor came out within a few minutes after 

that, or within fifteen minutes, after the young woman was lA 

the room, did you see her go out? was 9itandltg 

right in the hall, a couple of feet from the hall door as she 

passed ne in the hall and went down stairs. 

Q Did you see whether or not she was crying or had been 

brying? A No, sir; 1 looked right into her face; she was 

not crying or anything. 

Q.. Did she seem to be at all upset? 

Q Did her clothes seem to be disarranged? 

MR. MC CORMICK: No leading questions. 

QAWas there anything about her appearance that differed 

any way, as far as you could see, from her appearance when 

entered the place? A She didn't look any differeWto 

She didn't look any different? A No, sir. 

Q, There is a light, is there not, in that hallway? 

- who were being treated at that time when the young woman came 



In? A The  name la lire. :Coster* 

4, .And .the name ,of the man, do you know his nate?, 

Q, I am talking of the people were there before the young 

woman came in. A This lady was in the chair was the only one 

was there when she came in first. 

What is the name? A Mrs. Coster. 

Q And the nano of the man Who was there 'before Miss 

Poulaillon came in? A This man came after she came in.. 

Q Don't you know you 'just told us that there was a man and 

a woman there, the woman was treatft, the an was treated and 

then Miss Poulaillon went in and got treated? A Yes 

Q Did any otherpersons oome in afterwards While the young 

woman was undergoing treatment? V.A When she was in the other 



ci Do you know how long Mr Gray was sittin 

only stayed there about three or four minutes. 

•q Then he went awayl A Yes, sir: 

Q While he was there you say the young wamani Mei Foula 

lon, was in the operating chair? 

Q In which roam was she then? A The smaller roam. 

THE COURT: I haven't clearly in my Mind just when 

the prosecuting witness went out and the position of the 

present witness at the time. I wish you would develop 

Q Now Miss, I want you to pay attention to what I\ask you. 

I show you a photograph and ask you if this is a photograph of 

the.ballway leading to the entrance, to the doctor's dental 

MR. LEVY: May I pause a moment to show 



Q, And the entrance is on 6th avenue, 

sir. . 

Q. Is that correct? ' A Yea, sir. 

Q Now then, Miss Woods what tiMe do you say ±t wan. about 

when the young lady, Miss Poulaillon,. left the doctorIo office. 

to the best of your recollection? A I don It think it Imo' 

Q What is that? ,A I don't think it was 20 after 12 yet 

la You don't think it was 20 after 12? A No, sir. 

4r It was a little after 12 you say? A Yee 

Q That you fa..2'e sure of? A Yes, sir. 

Q What time were you to go to get your meal? A It was 

a girl pp stairs, she gives it to me. 

Q She went out and got lunch for you? A Yes, air. 

Q, Had you had your luncheon?  sir. 

Q It hadn't been brought to you yet? A No, sir. 

•Q Where were you at the time the young woman, Miss 

ion, went out? A I was standing right by that closet in the 

• Q , Look at this exhibit and point out" upon this exhibit, if 

you can, Where the closet is located that you spoke aboUt. 

i It is-ri6t here where it says "Walk 



AB. Ism May .,I show that  )0 the jury 

3OtJET: Yea. 

You know what a newel post  

Q Holding up the banisters? 

How near the banister *ere you standing? 

when the door of this closet is 9pen it is bardIV 

person to pass; it is that close._ -That is where 

ing when the girl passed me. 

Sp* that she had to pass 'you in order to g 

the post at 

Q. You,iere standing very near that you say? A Yes isir 

CROSS EXAMIHATIOY BY MR. MC CORMICK: 

Q. How far from -the post were you standing? A Well, 

when the door of the closet is open it is only a few inohea a 

.from this post (illustrating). 

dicating about two feet). , 
Q Prom Where I amto where you are, you mean that dii. 

tanCe? A, About. from here to here, that is where the post is 
(illustrating:). 



Q Please point out how 'far hold yoUr hande 

(flitneS0 illUStrates by holding her ha, do outO 

Wow, do you understand that diagram look at i 

Q Do you understand the diagram? 

Ila• LEVY: Give her a chance 

MR. McCORUICK: I want the jury to hear. 

Do you understand it? A Yes, air. 

Q Make a mark with this lead pencil' where you were 

standing0A Is this supposed •*t) be the'hallf.here? I was 

.standinp: riahtlnr that door there. 

Q I want you to.make a fnarkwi a pencil where you. 

THE •WTTNSq: That is he entrance.. 

Q You understand that to be the entrance to the big 

I don,t understand: Is this suprosed to he the door? It isnot 



This i apoei at tho head. o.tb(t stairs, this 

the clOset, this is the hallway, these are the tOrs 

down tø the, street, and the the 'stai.r13 ctoing upstairs? 

13Y MR, McCORMICK: 

,,:40ing down? 

1,4, This is the post going aoigh, these 

.gOaing .up,, this. is the  closet, there is the  hall and this , 

Have you gat that clear in 7(.)ur.,11ind? 

:p).,.; were standing? 

door is Open) ,that i8 where I z11-3 stanng 

Q That mark is right? A sir 

Q How far were you. Tell us again how 1' 

tneSs indicates), 

t. is only as far as yo V have indi 

that closet?- A' Yes: when the door 

• MR. LEVY: I have another photograph .here, 

you mina my putting that  in now? 

MR. CJI4CK: ilot now. 

Q Now, do you remember when officer Dietz came up _o 



see YOU that afternoon? 

You tola4im that you did not see that 
time during the operatiozt? 

q You did not? A No, sir. 

q Didn't you tell Officer Dietz that you 

the stairs cleaning brass all the time ththe 

A That was — 

yes, sir: not all the time she was 

much of the time that she as in that buildthg 

e? A ,out five.minutes. 

To every patient that comett.in to be operlited upon 

give a glass of water dont you? A Yes, sire 

Q Did you get 

Q Then when you golTe the P:lass 

went out with some rags tc clean 

Q You stayed there until the girl came out? A Noteir, 

Q This girl attor she came out after the operation 

Q, Arid at that vcr.• were as far from the door t 

the outer office as you are from me,now? A Yes,, sir; just 



ko• 

U2.. 
ad you been out there? A I ust had gon• out* 

Q How -long had you been out thwre? A About two 

three minutes. 

Two or throe Minutes? A The, sir., 

q• Where had-lyou been before that two or three minutes? 

A In the big room. 

79 What were you doing during the two or three minutes 

that you were out in the hall? A I was fixing some bundles 

in that closet, 

Q Were you cleaning the brass on the stairs at any time 

that morning while She vas tNere? A No,sir. 

Q How long a time did you take to clean the brass? A OnXY 

about five minutes. 

q When he gave her the glass of water which chair was 

she in? A In the large room chair. 

q .In the outer office? A Yes sir. 

•q You took something in your hand to clean the brass 

with and went out, didnit you? A Not when she sat in the 

first chair, no, sir. 

Q When you game her the lass of water, when she was in 

2the big chair, in the outer roam, where did you go? A 

was right beside her, cleaninP a table there. 

Q How long did irou continue alongside of her clean-

ing a table before •voll went nf the room? A I guess about 

ten minutes. 

Q Ten minutes? A Yeti, sir. 

0. She was still in that chair at the end of that ten 



What were you doing in the little 'ro'dm then? A -

wits washing out milk bottles and. boiling the instrumen*Si. 

• Q How long did you stay in the little room? A J 

didn t stay in there I went in and out, the. big room and lit-

Q. When,was it, how long after you gave her  the glass of 

water was it that you went out to clean he brass? A I went 

out to clean the brass when she was in the other chair, 

Q What chair? A The little chair. 

• Ho long bad she been in the little chair before you 

went ut to clean the brass? A As she went in. there I went 

Q I understand t'2a+.- 711 

girl in the small room, didn't you? A Yes, sir. 

You went into the hall? A Yes, sir. 



.How long did that take you? -A Qrly a couple 

q Then .when was it t,-At you ';Jext avi her, the time :she 

e outand you paned hc !hr,:! hail? A. 14c1 sir! I Went 

the big. rflom again, .•aridi aw her inthe 

door of- t7r:.,2 little room open? A Yes, sir. 

Q. -Tow long had yo l bee out in tlie hall at that time? 

A At that time I went otll 

"be hall until she Game 

out or the little room? 

Q  Didn''t you say a nnute a- when you erit out of 

big ro0-1 she was in t cair ii little room? A The 

first tins I ;.,ent out -to polish tie steps she was in the 

q Do you rememb:.: 

(7), Do you re:i inrI•ed llovir old you were? 

---..arr5 old? A 7es, sir. 



11111011Itti 

•MIt4, •IMVY. I have no olajection, to his •interrogating 

upon Iiihy mattatr where he desires to contradict but he cannot: 

use the minutes of the nrand Airy. 

MR. licCORMICK: 1 am net going to read the minute*, 

but 1 can ask her as to any testimony she gave before the 

Grand Jury. I. can ask her if she did not give certain tes-

In' MR. McCORMICK: 

Q Were you aeked this.questiont an did OU give 

ti S answer: "This young lady first came into the 'first 

rooms which you can see from the -waiting room? A 

Q. Did,you give that testimony? A Tist c&me into the 

two rooms? I'don,t understand that. 

Were you asked this question:. "While this, young lady 

was there, after you left the room #r go out into the hail" 

did you -give this -testimony: 

- to poltbsh a. few steps of brass". Is that right? ,A I think 

ts.-,at I was asked that question. 

Q Did you cr,ive that answer? (c) answer.) 

q Did you Say this "1 Went out the hall to polish a - 

few steps of brass"? A. Yes; I think I did. 

Q Were you asked this question, and did you give this 

"One flight of stairs lead up to the denitistts:arfice ? 

You gave that testimon7' 

LEVY: 1 &:.c t that. 

ML. VcCO'XICK: I cannot -epa:ate e qu'eetionn in 



XIICh a !ay; as to "bring .out  a e !vie oottradiotory fast 

f her tistimony given before tbe and :3U 

britging it somethitg else* 

LEVY1 if you let me 'see bmminutes MEW 

that I will consent to let them go in. I have never teen 

them. I have no objection to the entire minutes being 

in evidence, 

(The mimutes'of the Grand juryin the case are 

marked /ieople's Sxhibit No. 4) 

(Mr. McCormick reads People's Bxhibit No. 4, the Grand 

Jury minutes, to. the jury.) 

(4 Don't you always when the doctor goes to administer 

gas to a patent stay there While it is done?. A, Well if it 

is a difficult case I stay there, but when it is only a small 

ease I don:to 

Q Eow do you know whether it is a difficult'case or not? 

•A 'Re calls me. 

Do you mean to say that Dr. Roy didn't call you on . 

this girl's case? A Yes, sir. 

(4, Why didnft you say something about that before today? 

A They didet,ank me that. 

Q Now. you. say that the door leads from the outer office 

to the small room where the operating chair ig, this slid-

ing door, is that right? A Tt is a door. 

Q Mr Levy said it was a sliding door, and you said X 

is not a,sliding door, is it? A It goes together ikt, 

'Pc 

• 



q What Sort or a look has it? A A little hook. 

Q How high is the hook? A Away up high. 

• Q Talk up loud. A The hook is away up high. 

q Does the door swing? A Yed) s r, 

•q Ihaless it is hooked it ,wingsl A ea, sirs 

7 are you understana that diagram,Look at th 

tle room, and the door between. 

VP. LEVY:' P9irt ,atthe 

diagram. A Jell) I dontt 

This _i thc operating cl:.air? A Yes,. s!r• 

Ti  As what you call the big chair? A Yes, sir. 

Here are some dames that act s. sort of a partitithi 

between that part (1.2 the -7-: am and this part of the by7 

. roam? (Illustrating) A Ys, sir. 

You.• say you maw, -.:his -71r1 the operating. chair- while 
* 

being' operatedupon? 

Q. lbw --lexk a oark aith a lead pencil wbere you were, 

what roam were you standina in;.:hen ,Yor -saw her? A In the 



q• liCw long were you standing 

when I heard the noise* 

•Q, .What noise? A The gag matalineif 

•Q Where had you been when you first heard 

A Sitting on that davenport there* 

q

 

You were not cleaning brasses? A No, sir* 

How long were you sitting on the davemport? A As 

soon as I one in from cleaning the brass that is where I sat. 

gas maOhin 

• Q, Wilb you Make mark where you were standing when you 

saw the doctor operating on -her while in the operating. Chair. 

/am% 'Point out the davenport too., 

A I donft understand what that is. 

That is a pedestal and that is a book-ca-se. 

You make a mark where you were standing.. Let me ask you 

where were you standing when you saw her in the operating 

chair when 'the dentist was operating on her? A 

right by the table with becks on it. 

side _towards 6th avenue or the side away from the avenue? 

Q, How long were you standing there? A Well, tht 

is. when I heard the noise, and I just Fot wp acid looked. in. 

Q You werenvt over there for at rImpose, to look in. 



• You heard the Sound. '• of a maehtne? A Ito , sir, 

Could You see the machine in motion? A I obuld s e -

mouthpiece over the girls), nmut4. 

LIR0 MoCORATICK: Make a mark where you were standing. 

Q Where was the defendant when you got thi5 view? A He 

piece ove7 the mouth. were is where I 

was standing (indicating). 

Make a cross. (iltnese indicates). 

Mt.cCOFIC: Now 1 would like to show that tothe 

jury. This is where he g„iri wa in the operating chair in 

said she saw the girl being operated 

beard the noise of the gUs machine. 

Q ./Tow,you say as soon se you one in from cleaning the 

brasses you ,saw- the girl in theoperating chair, is that right? 

A As soon as I came in from cleaning the brases I sat on 

Q And then what? A .And then I just 

Who ''as the man? A Mr. Gray. 

Why did you testify that when the girl 



not r10.410,04? A No, 4r; 'w.as tarclitig by the .clooet *0.71 

WhY did you testify ru Were out in the hell, ',by' the 

post leading downstairs? A went that is by 'the closet*, 

Q, Well, donyt you remenber going beore the .6rand zury 

A Yee, sir, 

You lrnew that Dr. Poy was charged with commftting 

orie upon this girl in that inside room, .ddIntt you?. 

MR. LEVY: T object.to that. 

THE COUBT: Objection sustain 

Q. You did not sav anything to the Grand Jury about 

being in here where YOU culd see the. girl? 

TH COURT; It would not, perhaps, be proper, unless 

the que5tlon. I sustain the objeotion. Unless the que.s-

ion was asked. I- it was direct her attention to it. 

.Havenft you that already in evidence? You have. the Whole 

after you saw her in tie operating chair, when you we stand-

ing by the round table, how long after that time was it that 

vou saw her coming out when you were in the hall? A About 

Q Then after you saw the doctor aftinietering the gas 

. to her when you stood by the round table, you went out into 



Q, How did you happen to be out in the hall tboji 

passed you on her way home? A That was the oni.:T time / was 

How long had you been in the hall 

A Only about two or three minutes. 

q You still work for Dr. Roy, doet you? 

ct Did he talk to you about this case? A No, sirs 

Well, MrSs Roy told me to tell"the. 
0--

Q With your Honor's permissions Miss Woods, I show you 

ephotograph and u.sk you whether that is a correct repre-

sentation of that part of the,hallwav and the closet about 

which you have been testitiing? A Yes, sirs 

Q, Is that the closet that you have reference to, that 

were standing by, when you say you saw the young woman go 



Till6tograrb dOCOn 

: Yon Will also notice what we call* newel post there? 

•Where is that newel post situated at t 

stairs? A At the haad of the _stairs* 

q That is to say if the photograph was brought out 

further that other way it w ula show the stairs going down? 

Now this "walk in" sign "walk in" is the same si 

upon the photograph Exhibit C? A Yes, sir* 

LEVY: (Addressing the jury) This Exhibit B 

ent the hallway, he newel post and this iS the 

of that ballwe.y. These are combination pictures 

id like to.hare you look at them together.* 

(The jury inspects Exhibit s E And P. 

MR, LEVY: You will notice that part of the 

poet2 is shown in that photograph* 

Q, miss Woods, did this person, this.complainant, 

teak to you? A Yes, air. 

la When she one out.of.the dentist's off iceAahe 

that very c1ay; yes, sir. 

Q Had she spoken to you the other days the two d 

q Had you neVer had anything to do with hex'? A Noteira 

q Never supplied her with any eater? A Not sir. 



requedts from her? A Xneirer SP** 

her before except that aay. 

Q She never spoke to you? A io, sir. 

Q l3ut he did to you on that day? A Yes, sir. 

Q When was that? A Well, when the first got in 

anvthinR to you? A No, sir. 

while She was in that offide hear any sound f an scuffle 
4 

or struggle of any character? ,AV4No, sir; I did not. 

FRANK L. GRAY, awitness called on behalf of the 

defendant, being duly sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, LEVY: 

q Where do you live? A 758 Lafayette avenue, Brooklyn. 

q Mr. Gray, what is -our business? A I um bookkeeper• 



Ilv!tt business? A 'rugao 

Where is his place otLbuniness? A 106 6th avenue* 

How ion tt have you beendemployed there? A Three yearre 

Do you know Dr. 'Roy, he defendant? 

How long have you tcnown him? A Well, the first time 

Treated your teeth? A Ye sire 

You remember the fact of his being arrested? A Yes,. I 

ct). Q. Do you vemer1r,:tte!ntion being called by any 

person to a vislt paid o the offlibe of Dr'. Roy on the 

A Yes, sir: the fact that I was there the first 

T went to lie joctorts office. 

T1" 'iSrs that you had ever been dn the doctor's 

any  circu.m'',...,ances 

date? A No, sir; -I can't remember 



cr, 
ted. 

Do you remember being there at the 

other pereon Percone were in :the Office A Yee 

tz who Ao 'you .reCall being there? A Weil a :Sr 

A young vromen? A -wee) sir. 

4 What time of day was it 

utee after twelve. 

TØ u go t e e A Abou 

, How long did you remain there? A Not move thAO 

• five WI flutes 1 don,t think. 

How long did 7ou remain there? .4 About five mindtes. 

Q Did you receive any treatment that day?, A Yes, air. 

What room do you recall to mind? A The larger room. 

Q The larger roam? A Yea, sir. 

Whera was the young woman that you speak about? 

A In the smaller room to ,.he right. 

Could you seez-her from where you were? A Yes sit/ 

Pram the chair in which you sat? A Yee, sir. 

Was the door open? A Yes, sir; 

IR. LEV(: Now ,is the youngwoman nearby for the pur» 

pose of identification? 

MR. McCOPIJICK: Yes, 

BY MR LEVY: 

. 4 Look at this young woman and tall-me-whether you rec-

ognisse her? (Pointinq-to the complaining witnees) A I 

mitt recogntze her positively. 

Waa it a young lady 11 appearance and size like her? 

A Yea,sir. 



Z t her turn her., face tralth''• 
et 

. THE INTD6RETER: She says that she is afraid Of 

being photographtd. 

THE COURT: You will not be in my court nor any 

one else* 

ZEVY1 I went to et ynur profile, 

TYE COURT: You can take your hat off madam. 

(The complaining witness removes her hat.) • 

q _Now you may look at her very closely-. Have yo i look-

ed utfd-ciently? A ire sir. 

Do you recognize voung woman? A I should say 

that was the young woman, saw her profile as she 

fiat in the chair. 

Q Whatbtreatment did you receive that day? A I wore a 

plate I had broken a tooth off, and I came to the 'doctor to' 

have an - impression made* 

Q To have an impression made? A Yes, sir. 

Q He simply took a wax impression, and you went away? 

A Yes, sir. 

q

 

That was the young woman doinm at the time you saw. 

her? A Sitting there. 

CRORS EXAMINATION BY MP, McCORMICK: 

Do you mean to sa7 that when you came in there Mr.. Roy 

s working on that some woman in the inner room, and one. 

out and worked on vour .plate.? A Exactly, 

• 

,4. 



• Q , Vow yoU are a friend of hiS are yOU not? 

the doctor before that day,. 

Q, A fri\end of his now are you iot? A Yee 

You talktid to 4m about coming down here to teRtifyl? 

• Q He has related to you his side of it, told you what 

happened there, hasn't it? A More or less, yes,  

Q. Now, you were there about five minutes werentt you? 

always leave the 

12 andfit isn't more than f4ve minutes walk 

'Q How many Imes were you treated in his office or 

had. been treted bis office altogether? A I was treated 

for thia one ease, -1 was there two or three times• 

How many timed, I say, have you been treated by the 

doctor, by the defendant? 'A I don't know as you would cal 

'treated, he prepared my, plate, that is all. 

•Q How many times have you been there? A Two or three 

ct *One of those two or three times hpppens to be the 

same day and the same hour almost to the minute that this 

• Q You went out and when you went out the girl 

in the chair? A '"es, sir: eie was. 



• You don t know What happened after that? A 

BY A, OIRORt. 

When you came in  was anybody present? 

It ad you find her sitting or standing? A Sitting on 

long .seebee that is in the back of the room* 

Q' May I ask what treatment •Wad doctor gave you that 

first day that you went there? A He took an impression of my--

a wax impression* • 

Q Of he whole of your upper gum? A Yes, sir* 

Q Re took five minutes to do that? * Yes, sir; pre-

Q That is the only length of time you were there? A Yee* 

Q That is all you said, you said nothing outside of  

sir; I didnt say anything except relating to the 

ThA WITNESS: he doctor went into the room where 

1,ack of her, I couldnt see where he 



. wont he oigie out with wax in :his Ii 

preesion• 

• 4 .10 id he force the wax up to your gum? A Ye sire. 

q That took only five minutes? A Yes, sir; didntt 

take as long as that. 

'Over your whole mouth is what the juror asked, o 

only that particular part where the plate watt located? A. 'Not 

sir; the plate is takeb out; he takes an impression. 

4'1/4 A.RLES KANA.RIAN, a witness called In behalf 
_

 

of the defendant, sworn., testifies as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMIWATION BYAIR. LEVY: 

Q Where do you live? A 310 W. 43rd street. 

Q Mr, Kennerian, what •is your business? A Photo._ 

grapher• 

Q I dontt hear you. A Photographer. 

Q Where is your gallery? A At 159 ,h avenue. 

Q. In the same building in which Dr. Roves dental of. 

floe le? A Yes, sir. 

Q Was your gallery there in the month of April of last 

year? A Yes, sir. 

Q Do you remember the night he *fts arrested? the evening 

he was arrested? A Yes, sir. 

GI Do you remember bein-g in the hallway and overhearing 

a Cenversation.between him and some men? A: Yes, sir. 

Q bid you hear what one of the men orboth of the men. 

said toshim in the hallway at the time he was ar-ested? 

• 



129a, 

MR. XeCORMICK: I abject to that as Immaterial and  

irrelevant a conversation that the defen ant•had With 

some unknown persons.. 

MR, LEVY: Your detectives swore they went out iT 

the hall or at ,least Detective Ditsch did. 

THE COURT: well are they not here? Can you not lav 

M. LEVY: well, I" rlan following the rule recently 

laid down by the Court of Appeals in the Peoplesagainst 

Your Honor the Court of ApPeals said that 

the old rule should be changed or words to that effect, 

and it is not,nacessary'to lay a foundation. I am in-

terrogating the witness independently of any prelimin-

I do not think you have brought it with -

I do not think that you oome within the 

M. LEVY: Roll that is title, I did not interrogate 

the officer as to any conversation. It is not a con-

versation 1+.1- th4t4 Otness. 



'T1 E COURT; If you can direct tkao witness through 

hearing the defendant- and Mr. DiteOh or  Mr. DeVille eaars-

ing something in that hall I will take it. 

MR. LEVY: That is. what I intended to 

BY MR. LEVY: 

q Did you overhear a conversation between the defendant 

andtwo men? 

q In that hallway? A Ye, pir. 

Q What_jime was that, Mr. Kanarian.?? A About six 

o'clock or a littletafter s 

I did not. I just heard the conversation. 

.Had you  conversed before that time with Dr. Roy? 

Q, Before that time had you ever talked with the doctor? 

MB. MC CORMICK: I object to that,. a ccnversation 



my voice; 

Q I mean to Say that before the 2 

you ever ;talked to Dr. Roy? A Oh yes. 

q so you were famil-iar with the sound of his voice? 

A Yes, sir; I was familiar with his voice. 

Q Could you reoognize any voice in what you overheard 

downstairs in the hallway? A I -could have recognized Dr. 

Ray's voice but I, could not recognize the other voices. It 

was strangers. 

Q' Did you recognize the voice of a certain man? 

.sir. 

Did you hear what the other persons you didn't see or 

know, what they 'said to Dr. Roy and what reply Dr. Roy made to 

them? 

MR. MC CORMICK:. 'I object to that. 

A Will you repeat that to me please? 

Yes, sir; I heard a strange.-

The voice, you were asked whether you heard it. 

Q Now will you, if you please, tell us what was said to 

the doctor and what reply the doctor made? 

MR, MC CORMICK: I object to that as immaterial and 

irrel.evant and it is not shown to _wham the doctor was 

THE COURT: Well he said he knows the doctor's voice 



and he recognized hiS voice, He talked with :him before .a 

and he recognized his voice. Be says he heard this talk 

q On the night of the arrest? A Yes, 

T COURT:. Now is there some evidence upon the -sub,. 

jeot that that mas about the time the arrest was made? 

MR. LEVY: Yes, sir, the officer testified he asked 

him to step out into the hall. 

*- THE COURT: And that' then the defendant was in OUB* 

tody and in company of these people. I think I will take, 

it, Mr. McCormick. 

BY . LEVY: 
q Now tell us what ydu heard. A I heard a strange 

voice saying, "Now own up, tell us what happened." And I. 

heard Dr. Roy say "I have nothing to own up as I don't know any.. 

thing about this." Then I heard the strange voice again sap. 

ing "Now if you apologize to her there will be nothing to do." 

And I heard Dr. Roy's voice say "I have nothing to apologize 

for as I don't know anything about this." 

Q Is that all you overheard? A Then I heard this atra 

voice asking him "Did yov_use any antiseptics?" 
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WITMS: I heard Dr. Roy eay. 

chloride cocaine, and hydro oxide." I am familiar  

q You have them in your business? 

A I didn't hear any more than that. 

q At that time? A Yes. 

q Now at that time did Dr. Roy come up stairs 

MR. MC CORMICK: I object to the leading question. 

THR COURT: he is directing him to the subject. He 

knows, the defendant and is at the same place with him. 

don't think it is any harm and it saves time 

Dr. Roy came up a.few minutes after to 

me, excited, and told me there were two detectives down-

stairs ready to arrest him on a charge of assault and he 

THE; COURT: 
4 

q Did he ask you then, 

away to look after his office during his absence? A• He 

asked me if I would look after his patients, stand down at the 



MR. MO OORMIOE: I object to that. 

Q Then he loft with the men? A, Yesi 

MR. MO CORMICK: No arose examination. 

R 0 Y , the defendant, being 

in his own behalf, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, LEVY: 

Q Where do you live? A. 42 Bank street. 

q Dr. Roy, you are a duly licenseddentist? 

Q Wher• were you licentied to practice? 

Doctor?, A Born in 1570. 

Q How long have you lived in the United States? 

Q Do you know Miss Poulaillon, the complaining witness 

is case? A Yes, sir; I knew her as a patient. 

Q 1 Nish you toonly answer my questions and that is 



Pardon me. 

You treated her professionally, did you not  before 

You had also treated professiona4y.her mother, had you 

not? A Yes, sir. May I state that I had treated Mies 
four or five times 

PoulailIon? She said three. 

. .In your cffice, you have the full equipment required in 

your profession or first °Iasi wortand also have a machine 

A I use all of them, nitrous oxide, ethyl chloride and co 

On .the 28th of April 1913 did you use or adrnniatex' to 

Miss Poulaillon.any anasthetie. A Yes, sir;. I did. 

A Cocaine, ethyl chloride and nit.. 

A Yes, sir; the nitrous oxide by a 

A Well it is-- I have photographs here. 



• 

ti 

• 

Q Describe it, A It is an apparatus that I had, it 

contained three cylinders with little tubes for the passing of 

the gas from the cylinders into the bag, and also taking that 

tube, carrying this tube to the face inhalator, over the nose 

and the mouth. 

Q Of the patient? A Yes, sir. 

Q Are YOU required to pump? AL I am required to fill 

the gas bag, the pressure of the gas is very strong. 

Q; In what way?. A I use a little handle, a little 

key forces it in, it rushes into the begand it makes a noise 

sometimes greater than others. 

What I mean is this, no physical effort is required? 

A No, sir; -.4a child can manipulate it. 

Q A child? A Yes, sir.' 

Q, How close to the operating chair was that apparatus 

situated? A Probably two or three feet; it depends upon the 

. Plate. 

q That is situated in the so.called small roam? A Yes, 

r• 

CI You had no anasthetio apparatus in the,large room? 

A No, sir, the small roam, that is the operating room. 

(1 The apparatus is also equipped with an extension arm, 

is it not? A The apparatug, yes, sir, has tubing whioh-is ' 

-elastic. 

CI But the arm is 'brought over to the face of the patient? 



sir; eXactly. 

The window in that small room faCes on 6th avenue? 

Yes, sir; facing the elevated road. 

Q Bow many windows are there in that large room? A 

separating the small room from the large roam, 

A Well the door separating the small rioom 

room is a second hand door which T bought. 

A It is ,taregular door which has been 

out in two, with hinges, it closes,.; one half of it closes 

• Q Is there a lock attached to that door? 

there is; I bought it'in that condition. 

Q Is it, yes or no? A There is a little hook on top 

Q That is what I mean, a hook fastening? 

Now, the hallway leading into your office is lit up, 

it not, by electric light? A Yes, sir, a powerful light. 

That electric; light is located. immediately over the 

other business, can you tell me? 



'business& 

Yourself and the photographer? A Yes, sir* 

is there a qtore underneath you? A Yes, sir! a 

The young girl, Charlotte Woods, at that time was in 
your employ as maid? A Yes, sir. 

De you recollect on that day while Miss Poulaillon was 

in your office treating a patient by the name of rtrak? 

IL Yes, sir, I remember well. 

Q. That was while the young woman was in your office? 

A I didn't catch the question. 

Reneated.' A Yes, sir, correct. • 

Q. Now first of all, I -ish you to tell his Honor and 

the jury, in detail, for what you were treating Mies Ttulail* 

lon't in other words what professional treatment did you give 

ber on that day? A Mere were several conditions in her 

mouth that require the 4'different kinds of druga, I u4ed the 

same kind as any other dentist. 

-Q Nhat were you-treating tier for? A I was treating 

cavitidsi sensitive dentation as well as nerves. I had done 

some excavation on the dentation previously and at that tiin I 

was about ready to prepare to do a little more excavating which 

was rather painful because she expressed it so by a stall out 

4.t 
I continued the excavation. I filled a couple of teeth 

permanently, no plaster as the prosecutrix explained .but with 

permanent filling, done carefully wit), plenty of time. 



Ocood9d to 00 Other tooth Which v40 the most painful, 

q What tooth was that? A That was the loser. bicuspid 

no lover AIN I have a diagram and I can eXplain $t bettOr* 

That tooth, had an old gold filling, I 'remember wellt the gold-
.. 

filling that was rather leaky and she called my attention to 

it, and as I knew she was going on the sea and knowing there is 

no dentist on the steamer I proposed to do the work thoroughly. 

AL I want to know What you did. A I used cocaine. 

The method is called pressure anasthesia with cocaine. 

used it and still there was pain. 

q Did' you use the same anasthosia on all pf the teeth. 

or only on that one tooth? A I us cooaine on that tooth, 

Q' Well then after cocalnizingthem.. did you cooainize 

A Yee, Sir; I 11004 ethyilohloride just 

q What need was there for other anaotheiias? A It 

was the proper thing because it required the removal of the 

nerves. Several doctors do it, they have one way with arsenic, 

Which every one knows, which will do probably in some cases, 



effect on the nerve. 

MR. MC CORNMCK: I object to that. 

THN WITNESS: X used nitrous oxide. 

• Q ,Pay heed to me. A Yes, sir. 

Now I-donl,t want anything except a direct 

want to know what you did and not your reasons for doing it. 

1 want to know- A To my. point of view I must explain. 

COURT: No, you have very competent counsel here 

of it and you just answer his questions. 

I might be able to take that pulp and save time. 

Q Now then in connection with the two uppe 

use any filling at all on that day? -A Yea, el 

two teeth. 

.That composition was that? A The fill 

alloy.. a platinum or silver filling. 



.4 Some people have been fortunate enough never to have 

needed a dentist and it is necessary for you to make an accu.4-

rite explanation. In putting in that filling you compresS 

it, do you not, by physical force? A Yes, sir; use force. 

So as to fit it kor the filling? A Yes 

Q Then you drill physical,force and the filling JO 

pressed into It in a proper normal position? 'A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, sir, did you prepare any filling for the lower 

tooth? A There was one upper and there was one lower. Those 

are the two fillings you are speaking of, two fillinga in the 

q That day you removed the temporary filling? A 



Q Now, the other tooth which you did not fill on that 

day, Where was it located? A That is the lor, on the 1 

your next question at 2 o'clock. 

(The Court then admonished the 

% 
tention to Seetion 415 of the Code of Criminal Procedure 

R 0 Y , the defendant, resumed the stand: 

DIRECT EXAMINAT ION CUT INUID BY MR. LEVY: 

Q Now, Dr. Roy, just befoxe recess I was inquiring con. 

cerning what you did to the lower tooth. Now, will you tell 

his Honor and the jury what you did, what treatment you gave to 

the lower tooth? A I applied cocaine in different forms, 

powdered form as well as in liquid form. I used a catheter 

for the anasthea,ia by pressure, used a little cocaine catheter 

with a little galvanized rubber top on it. 



order o got the result, Whi h was nitrous -oxide. I. informed 

the girl, when in the chair, sitting in the chair, which Zal 

ways do, I told her so and didn't get any answer because my 

hands were in her mouth and I informed her I was going to give 

The other name for that is laughing ga 

Q Can you talk as:loud a 

Q Do t,he beat you can. A. I told her I would take her 

in the other room where the machine is, the apparatus. So .„ 

she came with me to the other room. 

-ed two fillings. I placed her' in the chair in the little roam 

and told her to keep her mouth open and use the Saliva ejector 

in her mouth in order t'o take up the saliva Which was coming 

Q In order to Make that clear that is an instrument WhiCh 

.doctors used which, is called a salaiva ejector? 'A Yes, sir. 

Q' That is so that a,person is furnished with a little 

tube, in the mouth, which avoids the necessity of their expec... 

the saliva ejector in the mouth. I went about to attend to 

other things, many other things. It was my method to put 

a patient in that chair while I had other things to do. The 

fillings have to be dry. I had to prepare the gas machine in 

order to operate • I prepared my machine, took all the neces.. 



nary' drills together, and 411 the necessary little nerte 

broaches, tried the gas and the gas machine, and got  eVerY 

thing in working order. rI did not inflate my gas bags. I 

waited until wae about to operate. While I was doing all 

this preparation I was attending to some mechanical work. I 

do some meohanioal work. I had a mechanical man who does the 

mechanical work for. me., While Imas,-doing this I heard some 

one ,coming into the sitting room, the large roam, Which was Mr. 

Gray. The girl was there being,attended to with this saliva 

I didn't say anything to her, she was Bitting there 

in that pos it ± on I left her there and attended to Mr. Gray, - 

Q While on that 

Mr. Gray? A Mr. Gray had a rubber 

attended to, commonly called a plate 

dentation which had to be 

which had to be repaired. 

most darefully in order to know all about the mouth. I left 

him in that chair and I came into the little room, softened 

some wax and also attended to some of my bridge work that WAS  

on the fire. I came back to Mr. Gray, placed the wax in his 

took an impression, said a few words, made an appoint. 

acoustics of this room are terrible. 



back of the Small r00m, la,work hop do you cal/ it? 

Yee, sir; back of the operating chair is a little roam 

In that little roam which I call -the workshop? 

ct If a person requires or you require wax in order to 

make it plialae you go to that back room and prepare the wax 

(I Now, I Show You a photograph and ask you whether the 

is a true representation of the workshop in the back of the 

room Which adjoinsthe-mmaller room, as you call it, ol, this 

s that a good photograph? A Yes, sir. 

MR. LEVY:, I offer it in evidence. 

(Marked Defendant's Exhibit G.) 

to the jury? This is te workshop. May I illustrate 

Here is the small room and here is pie workroom in 

the back, or this is part of this room, this workroom 

Q, Now then you went into that back room? 

Then came out and took the impression of Mr. Gray's 



Q Is that all the time it takes to make a wax impreeø ion 

takes sometimes a lesser amount of time. 

q Sometimes more? A. Yes, sir; according to the condi. 

No, sir. 

Q When a patient is being treated with you, or when you 

have several patients in the off ice at the same time you go front 

one patient to the other? A Yes, air; lam able to take 

jury everything that you can bring to your mind conoerding 

your doings and dealings and acts with the complaining wit4,9380 

Miss Poulaillon, from the time she entered your office until 

the time that she departed, and speak up loud, if you please, 

because this is 'an important part of your case. I want you to 

describe everything to the best of your recollection. 

the moment she entered my office uritil she left my office? 

Miss Pouiaillon Oame to my office about a little before eleven 

I hadan appointment, as usual, aith several people. 

Never mind, just what you-uid with her. A She came 

in about eleven o'clock, disrobed, sat on the settee, I was 

working on a lady named Mrs. Coster in ;;he other room. 



• 

- . 1,77 • 7- • • 

amber left Sly office about eleVen.fifteen, About 11.3,5 

Mr. Sheldon came in, a patientof mine, sat in the sitting roo 

facing Miss Poulaillon. I took'Miss Poulain.= in to that 

chair and Mr. Sheldon waited about fifteen minutes. And abou 

11.30 Mr. Sheldon sat in the chair in the large room, Ile was 

in that chair about, five minutes When I dismissed Sheldon. 

Miss Poulaillon asme in. It was about 25 minutes ef'12 aS 

for each patient as my practioe is very large.'/ kept my 

eye on the ()lock. About 25 minutes of 12 when she came in 

about 12 I operated on these three fillings, or three teeth 

I should say. I was unable to fill the• last tooth at that 

sitting. From 25 to 12 to 12 o'clock I was putting in two 

fillings if I remember correctly, that is two permanent fi 

While she was in that chair I had to drill with an 

electric drill rapidly using, mostly we use cocaine and use 

ethyl chloride, and use cocaine in different-forma and use 

ethyl chloride in liquid form with a spray 

the nose, simply with a spray. heatated 
chair' 

there was no pain (referring to the witness,).. 

There'was pain because I was compelled to use antisep. 

tics and I don't use them if the patient is able to stand it, 

because time is money. I filled those two teeth that I filled 

permanently and I finished that work. Then she called my 



attention to the lower geld tooth in arlOolle condition, painful 

at times When she used sugar etc. The tooth was loose so it 

was easy for me to remove it with the drill. It came out and 

looking upon the foundation of the tooth I found that the tooth 

looked very bad. In order to make a permanent work  had to 

clean it thoroughly. / then used the drill, it was a little 

bit painful. I applied cocaine with this instrument with the 

rubber over it for partial anesthesia. There was pain. 

• q Did she say anything on the. subject of having any p 

A -I am not Positive that she.O.seOhe word but actions are 

Did she at any time say anything about 

inclined to think she did use some words. 

Did you perhaps make some inquiry on the subject? 

-4 

4 From berimanntar A She made an outcry, a 

I took a piece of cotton .and I told her, I 

says.- this girl being a French girl although she speaks Well 



AWAXisao 

Q sever mind that. 'Meat did you do that cavity? Did. 

you remove the filling? A I had removed tfte5filling and ap-

plied drugs, which did not seem to have killed the pain. 

(told her 1 would have to use nitrous oxide. 

Q Well then What me done? A Well I would transfer her 

into the other chair, as I did with all my patients,. 

Q Transferred her to the Chair in the  small room? A Ye 

ahere I use the bitro.s.oxide. 

q You did apply the nitro oxide? A Yes, sir. I pros. 

the little drills etc. so thatI would, when the girl would bet 

to a certain degree, anesthetized, T. Would be able to; operate  

atá certain time, in a certain moment, do the proper -work. 

4 How long did it take you to apply the nitrous oxide or 

laughing gas? A Well it varies. 

Q How long in this case.? A About a minute and a half 

to two minutes because She was gettingtt 

q Did the patient become unconscious in that period, et 

insenSible, Or she became about on the border line of uncon-

Q On the border line? A Yes, sir. 

A Yea, sir; it was not necessary to 



give her the fourth or the third....-

Havong'done that, applied the nitrous' oxides what did 

you do? Did you insert anything into the cavity/ A yo sir 

What did you 1nsert2,74 A May I describe? 

q Xust answer the question. A Yes, sir. I used ft 

velvo powder containing a 

zerene compound and then a little plain cotton on top of 

You saturated that cotton? A _It isn't saturated 

with anything, a little powder en- thit top of the nerve and it 

is saturated with a certain medical preparation that we use 

called one two three, of oil. 

(I Now youdid insert the cotton? A Yes, air, I inserted 

a plain piece of cotton on the top. She is right, it was a 

plain piece of cotton on the top, the cotton was there but 

under it was the medicinal substance. 

Q That having been done she was restored to consciousness 

Q Did you have any talk with her? A I said as I would 

to any one that this little treatment might cause her pain for 

an hour or two and I dismissed her. 

9, Now she testified, the young woman testified-- pay heed 

to me.. she testified that you took her from tine chair in the 

large room, took her into the smaller room, And you told her 

to keep her mouth open, is that a fact? A That is correct, 



And the object  of her keeping her .-month open wits what? . 

.A So that. the saliva ejector would take up the saliva and ale, 

low the filling to dry. 

Q Now can you tell _hie Honor and the jury hoi long oho 

remained in that small room in that chair? A To the best of 

Q, Now, Doctor, did you at any time, during, the time the 

young woman was in your office, take her into that small room 

and the aoor leading from the larger into the smaller 
room? A No, sir; I did not. 

_ „wt 

Q Did you look the door by means of a catch or hook at 

tie top of the door at any time? 'A No, air; rarely is it 

Q The young woman testified, Doctor, while in that small 

room that you approached her, While she was in the chair and 

that you placed.. I am trying to depend upon my memory for the 

fact.. you placed your left arm and hand underneath her neck, 

While she was reclining in that chair, and that you reached 

around, held both of her hands by her wrists,held them up 

across her cheat and that with your right hand you lifted her 

garments and attempted to feel her, put your hand upon her 

private,paite. That briefly isi the girlts story. 



the is irreepOneible .tor her statements because °hes., 

q Did you de that or not? A NO, sir; X did not, sir 

q Did you at any time tear her waist or her stocking? 

4 Can you tell the jury whether or not the girl diep1aYe4 

While under the influence of anesthetics, either one of them, 

or.ang_sne of theml.any evidences of .hysteria? :A Yee, sir. 

How did she manifest that? ,11 She manifested by the 

, general symptoms of hysteria. 

Q In what way? A Well', by her movements of her body, 

the movement of her handE and feet. 

Q Describe that. -„A‘. It is very easy and at the same time 

Here is a case of two weeks ago where a patient bit me and 

blood poisoning set in, while hysterical. 

(1 She lad that cork to keep the mouth open? 

and so that when I get at the tooth with my finger or use evet 

an instrument,— I don't want to injure the patient or myself. 

where the respiration was somewhat obstructed. giv-

ing an anesthetic a dentist is always nervous because he don't 

want a death and naturally I did a great many thinge Which 



la3 
*the; doctors do. If a patient JP a man Who in not hysterical 

it is different but if the patent is excitable as the "mob, 

people are very likely to be we have trouble. The cox* moved 

anyway. the cork moved as 1 was drillingrillittle bit, the cork 

moving and the jaw closing, and the bnly thing for me .was tb 

take out the drill and leave Irr alone. Her symptoms of hys-

teria were these: her:hands went up into the air and her bead 

partially rested upon the head rest, the little head rest =Ned 

a little bit and her body :fell to the left this way '(illustrict 

ing), of  course t,h1.S chair is a great deal different than a 

dental chair so the only thing I had to do was to grab her by 

the, wrist and as I straightened her, took up the wrists with 

her head raising -gradually I .pulled her by the wrist and straiglatik 

ened her body this. way (illustrating). Her hand was up in the 

air some way or other and Pulling her body her stomach seemed 

to make a curve, her feet were up on the foot rest andher body 

came in a curve like (illustrating). 

Q Rigid? A Yes, sir. After that there was some 

rigidity of the muscles and after that there was a relaxing 

as it is called, that is, a relaxation. . Her feet she slipped 

into the opening(or-this foot rest. Any dental chair has 

about the sane thing and it is always dangerous for a person to 

get their feet this way (illustrating). For -instance when I 

give gas if a person has their legs this way (illustrating). I 

always say to the woman or man "Put your feet in the proper po. 

Ys-



sition becalm when the body gets rigid, we, are on the lookout 

for relaxation and there is liable to be trouble. .So X pulled 

her feet out of the opening and just at that time she gained . 

consciousness, did not make a motion, or make a noise. •AB it 

Is the law not to touch them; leave them alone, not to tell 

them to alt there or anything of that sort I waited fOr her to 

regain consciousness, and so I went in the little room and know. 

Q Never mind *that. A I went in the little room to get 

a little powder .to put in that tooth. I noticed that the maid 

got the medicine and 

came back and wait.da few seconds and opened her mouth and 

placed the medicine in the tooth and that is all there was to 

Doctor, the young woman olaima that you subjected her 

to the indignity .of putting your hand Upon her person,. of open  

" ing your own apparel and of exposing your own private parts, AM 

Is it true or not true? A No, sir; it is not true. 

Did you put your hand upon her privates and attempt, 

at any timeIttitillate her with your fingsr? A No, sir. 
A 



• DoCtor, at any time while'she way in our office or at 

any  other time did, you ever intend to perpetrate an act of 

sexual interoeurse with that young lady/ A No, sir. 

q 'Did you ever have it in your mind either with her will 

Q, To have intercourse with her? 

Q, In your experience you -Wave seen hysterical patients 

after the effects of the anesthetics had worn offS-

thousands of them in my office. 

Q Are you conscious of having ififlioted upon that young 

woman by force and intentiolally any bruising or pinching which 

-Tould-cause any discoloration of her flesh? 

except I may have pressed her wrists .a little when I lifted 

her body. That may account for this. 

Q That was not done intentionally? A 

Q, And was not done for the purpose of overcoming resist. 

time to any advances or liberties that you wanted to take with 

Q You swear to it? A Yest,pir, I swear to it. 

q Now there has been testimony given here that you gave 

dollar bill, or put a dollar bill in the cuff of her coat  

Q You will get a chance to answer the District Attorney 

he crbac..examines you. Did she before going out ,of the 



roam take the dollar bill from the cU f of the coat and Ihrow. 

it in your face?.A No air. 

q Did you tell her you wanted her to use that to buy 

14, Now, there has been testimony given here by Ur. DeVille 

and by Officer Ditsgh to the effeiOt that there was something 

said .by you that you would make reparation someting said by 

you that ir you c mild make reparat ion you . would do it; now what, 

was saiid on that subject? A Why the  men, these two 'detect. 

ives that is the word that they, wanted to put in MY mouth, . 

reparation ithidh means make amends, make a reparation, and. 

I I said I have no apology to make. 

(1 You said "This means ruin to me tO make this charge?. 

A, The _fact that it is such a charge against me is enodgh to ' 

ruin my life, and also to break the heart of my mother. 

told her whet a serious charge it was and detective Diteoh said 

115? A Yes, sir. 

on her, she described ,it that way, that you put your mouth to 

her mouth and that you stuck your tongue in her mouth, to stash 

an extent that y'4ii almost choicecU her, that you rolled your 



tongue azwund her mouth; ,aid you do anything of that kind? 

A I Aid not* no* sire 

Did you approach her mouth at all ezcert with your 

4 Did you approach her mouth at all except with your 

hands? A Yes* sir* as my work as a dentist required. - 

Not with your mouth? A Never. 

MR:. LEVY: You may. °rose examine. 

CROSS UMAT/ON BY R. COLLIGAN: 

q, Now you say you think a great deal of your mother, do 

you not, -Doctor? ,A As much as any one. 

You think a great deal of your wife* do you not? A I 

Do you know a girl by the name of 

4 

LIR COLLIGAN: How do you know what I am going to ask 



Did you -know Marie Robbins? A I don't know, Pir.• 

4, Why, do You Say you may haWe known her? A Becausse 

had such a large number of Manes and Robbins and Robinson, 

probably I don't renomber, sir. 

Igot no refresh your recollection. A Yes, sir. 

I am going to ask you a question. On the 20th day Of 

April 1910 did Miss Marie Robbins go to your office at 8 

clo6k in the evening, you did some professional work on her, and 

at 9.30 When the builaing was'vaant you told her to go into ss 

the sitting roam, sit on the couch and when she had done that 

you put out the lights and you attempted to rape her? 

MR. LEVY: I object to that. 

t get your French 

MR. OOLLIGAN: He has an Irishman to deal with no 

MR. LEVY: I object to that question if your Mono 



gos4 MI% The same,objection app lett° that questions 

BY MR. COLZIGAN: 

q Is that your handwriting, yes or A Yes, eir* 

q Do you remember Whether or not that was given to Miss 

ity of objecting if, he thinks he should object. 

MR. COLLIGAN: I had asked him if that was 

writ ing. He said &ti. 

MR. IVY If he said it is his handwriting 

another question. 

COLLIGAL 

Was not that addressed tones Marie Robbins? 

Objection overruled; exception. 

.q

 

Examine it and refresh your recollection, if you think 



=04 et 7ourelOther and your wife 

COLMAN: We will Withdraw that and make eTery40 

thing pleasant. 

THE COURT; Strike that out. YOU will 'disregard the 

question, (114e no regard to the question.. 

Have you refreshed your recollection? 

card looks like one that.. 

Q Will you -answer the qu stionT Have you refreshed your 

recollection?, 

THE WITNESS: Jo, sir; I know noth ng,about it. 

.Q, YOU knots  nothing about it?A io, eir. I gave 

My Wi 6, like it with my picture .on 

mas Stolen from my office. 

e addressed 

stolen from Your Office? 

MR. IVYt I object 

miased one of 

o Miss lifarie Bobbins was 

'o that as *immaterial, irrelevant 

and ineolopetent. • 

Object ion overruled; exception. 

COLLIGAN:., I will withdraw the question. 



BY Mfl COLLTGAN: 

q Nov I ask you to examine thatpostal card and tell the 

jury whether or not, if you know, iho that was addressed to. _ 

B. LEVY: I objeot to that as not material, relegailt 

MR. LEVY: I object to that. 

putting before iv jury matter which is not admitted in„ 

evidence by reading it to the jury. 

TIDI COURT: There will not be any reading at all. 



Q You do not know whether you addrbseed it to her? 

A There is nothing to it. I would send to many person 

card like this. I built up my practice that way. 

MR. LEVY: Will your Honor indulge me? The im 

pression, at least may be4 created by inuendo and insinUa. 

tion that there is something in thib method of proof--

SHE COURT: I don't think so:' 

men of intelligence in this ease. 

'otR,. LEVY: Here is the postal card, your Honor, ad-

dressed t o a party whom the witness stated. Ho* does 

that become lilateriaI, relevant or competent to this issue? 

THE COURT: I haven't any notion at all about it. 

• THE COURT:. It may not have any bearing at all. 

know the jury are rot going to suggest anything at all or 

draw anything from any suspicious source in the proof here 

Giveattention to thequestions and the answers. 

1:TR. LEVY: Your Honor will 'see the evil. 

'ere a witness on the stand and the District A tt 

should com? and present a dozen lett 



I cannot agree with you that that can be 
_ 

Here is a person Who is in business, he Lain a„ 

clients 
business and he has and he may advert lee 110 

business. Every legitimate:business than may address men, 

amen and •children and it is a perfectly proper thing to 

This jury is not going to draw any inference from' _ 

any such question or any such answer. 

MR. LEVY Of course not. 

I'M COURT: I an not, going to let them do it, Mr. 

COLLIGAN: And the District Attorney is not try,. 

ing ,t-o do it except on proof. 

Does the District Attorney intend to offer 

these letters or papers in evidence? 

MR. COLLIGAN: I have a right, under the decisions, 

If. it please the Court, to ask these questions. 

Q, Why' did you tell the jury a moment ago _that you  did not 

know Miss Marie Robbins after having admitted that you sentf.heri 



Igobject to that. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained as to the form of the 

object to that statement. 

extent to Advertise when  you wished the sdrvices of a 

MR. LEVY: 1 object to that as not material, relevant 

Objection overruled; exception. 

Q Has not that been your custom? A 

Q Did you know a young woman Whose name is May Burgess 

who lived at 69 West 90th street? 

Q Do you remember that in the summer of 1911 you advertised, 

In the Morning World for a girl, and that a girl by the namci4af 

Miss May Burgeon, who.' told you she lived at 69 West 90th street, 

Now York City, answered your ad. and came to your office after 

4. 

receiving a reply from you telling her to come at 8 p. ma in 

reference to the position, that you asked 

and when you were through-you took her to 

her on a sofa and attempted to rape her? 



la. IBM .1 objeet t6 that if the •Court Paellosei 

as incoMpetent, immaterial and irrelevant. 

THE COURT: Objeetion sustained. 

MR* LEVY: Now, your Honor will, of course, I knowi 

tell the jury that anything that is contained in the clues. 

tions of the District Attorney that has not been proven 

should be disregarded by there 

TER COURT: The jury, I think, understand that when 

an obj.ection is sustained it nullifies everything that is 

containe4 in the question and is not for the jury to con. 

MR. LEVY: oall the District Attorney's attention 

to the decision in the case of the People against Preeman. 

MR* CULLIGAN: I am aware of it.I have it. on my 

NT4 TAW: Well be fully aware that 

Thai: COURT: Let us proceed with the case. 

ask you ir in the summer of 1911 you did not attempt - 

ay Burgess who lived at 64 West 96th Street? 

object to that as,inoompetent, 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. 



I agilk.7„011 new if it has not .been your Custom for several• 

year to advertise in the newapaPerS for help, and for wrmnia 

years to attempt to rape women, your customers and-patienta-trom. 

it* to your office? 

Wt. LEVY: I take an exception. 

your direct examinationey counsel? A I said the detective 

Q He talked French in the corridor after this thing haii. 

pened, did he not? A Mot all French. 

Q Did he talk some French? A Yes, 

Q How much English did he talk? 

Q Well toyour best recollection -what part of the.conVers. 

at ion took place in English? A Why, everything was in English 

except those two words in French reparationH as tar as I can 

oonveraa.. 

in the pre. 



ens(' of.104 DeVille, the Official interpreter 

16? 

f this 'Mut, 

and the Offieer and the father; do you not? A There was two 

conVersations, one in the hall and one in the room. 

q Now, let us apply ourselves to the one in the hall. 

Who else? 

q Don't you kno 

stranger to me. 

You have seen him on the witness stand during the' trial? 

sir; saw him'look around... 

Q Is he a perfect stranger to you now? A He was there. 

Q You have a pretty good recollection, haven't you, of 

-*at happened during that period? A Sogewhats 

Qe Now, tell the jury whether or not Mr. DeVille was there 

at the time the conversation occurred in the hall? A I am 

not quite sure about DeVille being there in my haste etc. 

once again what anesthetic you used on the woman that day. 

I used cocaine, Ethyl ohloride and nitrous oxide. 

Q In What room did you use the cocaine? 
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VOw. v42,o me in the office or YoUr waiting room at the 

time you used the cocaine? A My mid* 

9, here Was she at the time? A .In and out both, the 

little room and the large room. 

Q The little room and the large room? A Yes, sir. 

Q. That is the two operating rooms? A Yes, sir. 

She was in there? A And in the hail it. she 3iad 

to go out: I didn't notiCe. 

Q You didn't notice? 

Q What are your maid's duties there? A She ha to ma 

herself generally useful. 

-Q, - Genera-1-1-y useful? A Yes, stir; do anything to keep, 

that office clean and to assist me if I need her.. 

Q Especially during operations? A No, 

ally. She has to do the cleaning. 

Q Wash the floors? A No, sir, I won 1t say that beaause 

it is roiled cloth •mostly. She sterilizes my lnatrumerit and 

does all kinds of things that a maid should do in a dental 

Q She doesn't wash the f bore at all, does ho? A Yea 

sirL I did not say she does not. 

Q Does she wash the floor in the hallway? 

Q Do you recollect that about three years .ago there was 



COLLVIAN: You t know yet. 

MR* 1401% X object to i 

•Objection overruled; exception _ 

Do you recollect about three year ago there waOlk_ 

Well about three years ago? A 

You were in the building, were you not?' A Yes, Str.. 

Now I want you to tell.the jury if At is not 4-fact that 

you tried to rape that woman Who worked there? - 

MR LEVY,: object to that, if your Honor please. 

object to this as incompetent, immaterial and irrelevant.. 

I don't want to ask for. a. mistrial or the withdrawal of 

You may answer the question. 

So that at the time that you were giving the ogoaj.ne tc 

the complainant, in the outer 'office, the woman was wandex'ibg 

arouna? A The woman was wandering around? 

YR. LEVY: The witness hap not said wandering around. 



q In the chair in the operating roam; who came in? 

q

 

Nobody Came in? A No, air; Mr, Sheldon 

Isn't he some one? A Let me think. When she was in 

the chair Mrs. Coster had gone and Mr. Sheldon had gone and she. 

- was alone in the place, my maid and I were there, :nobody else. 

Q Mr. Sheldon and Mrs. who, Coster? 

Mrs. Custer, is it not? A 

We would just like to know the facts. 

was in the chair, aitting and Mite Poulaillon came in; 

she at on the eettdt and I kept on operating on Mrs. Coster. 

I got through with her • And I took in Mr. Sheldon in the chair. 

I operated on Mr. Sheldon. Id iSmissed Mr. Sheldon and then 

Miss Poulikillon came.in after, therefore Mee Poulaillon was 

the last one in that chair until Mr. Gray cam§ in. 



Q1 Who was in the building o, your apartment, OUteid* 

of the assistant and yourself at the time that the compliin... 

ant went in the smaller room? A'At the time she went, into, 

the smaller roam? There was nobody but me and my maids 

Q You and your mad? A Yes, sire 

Q 3ut after that few moMents, after that, W. Gray 

oo in and Mr. Gray was there about five minutes? A Pour 

or five minutes' 

Q While she was in the small room, in that room did7you 

give the anaesthetic? A Yes,  sir, in the small ream. 

Q.. What was the cause of giving'her the anaesthetic? 

Because that is perfectly consistent, for the nerve --

Q How 'much work had you done for her prior to thip 

day? A Why I had completed two fillings. 

q What was the necessity of giving her an anaes-

thetic on the third occasion? A In order to remove the pulp 

have an assistant in the office to 4881st th9,41, 

haven't they? A If you are wealth- enough to have a maid. 

Q You- are wealthy enough to have a maid? A No, 

Haven't you a maid? A Yes, sir-, a maid to do the - 

general work, and nometimes to assist. 



41 Don't you consider the work of assiatan00 in'pn 

tion on a, patient aWmore'iMportant thaP oweeptmg thi floor 

or cleaning the stairs? A A. small operation* sir* donit - 

feel that it was important enough to call my maid* 

q Then the application of gas is not important enough 

to keep your maid from sweeping the nook? A She wasn't sweep» 

• Why -did-you say doing nothing? A T 

was doing nothing-- I said she was not--"she 

• 
something which was work, cleaning, dustIng and so forth. 

Now just what time did you give gas -to this woman 

inner room? A After Mr. Gray went out. 

After? A Yes, sir, 

You felt sure you wanted Mr. Cray to gc 

MR. LEVI: I object to that. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. 

Where =vas the girl at that time when 

ing'the gas? Where was the maid? A I dontt know iihere She 

was; I know she was in the text man. 

(4• Well, now you told tha jury you dontt know where she  

was, then you told us again she was in the next roam, which is 

correct? A I know just what I EM 'saying* sir* my maid was in 
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whore oho -woo.* 

wur do: You say You 'don.'t know where !48lie 

that  If / did I reverse myself* -

(1 What was she doing in the next room at the time you 

were applying gas to the patient? A I don't knew, sir* 

1304 do you know she was in the next room? A Because 

A X won't say she was making a noise -4,*' 

but I had gone to the little cabinet to get solie instrumentt 

ow ahere She was, 

from the cabinet, yes, sir. 

Isn't it custoary to send for her to bring the-

instrUments for you? A No, sir.; I de it myself. 

(4, She never brought in the instrument on this day?? _ 

- A To, 61.r. 

You hoard her testify -,;o-that effect? A No, sir, 

or did- 7ou hear her say that she brought an in:- . 

stn.1,-vent to you in the next room? A 

Q It io your custom to go in and bring all the instru.-

ments-notwitiastanding the,fact that you have arnid there? 

ri1;.,u t,o or three? 'A My maid ia not 

you she i.e there mostly :iorkinr: thththe Aorning, doing the 

olf4aning io -Alt! afternoon, .r.d hoppolold to be about 



Li e pretty women come in in the 'morning? 

M. LBW: I object_to the insinuation containe4 

1113. COURT: Objection sustained. 

'Q iow3.ong did it take you to apply -gas 

tient? A About a minute and's, half or' two. 

lhat did you do during the Periodtthe gas wai applied? 

Whs., I did? I waited for tile proper moment to apply the 

hood orl her facet and waited for the proper time to 

the drill until she got the proper state of 

oould use the drill, and she would not feel pain. 

All the time your assistant was in the next roan? 

sir, that is perfectly proper* 

Yow you have a door between thatnoperating roam: 

a the other room have you not? A Yes, sir.. 

The door was open, was it? A Yes, sir. 

Q. How was the door kept open, Doctor, it is a swing.. 

ing door, is it not? A How kept open? it 15 si 

that it stays open all the time. 

W. You have a latch at the top of that door, 

bought that door catch and all tie 



on the day  in  question? AL 'No afr, 

You did not cloSe the door at Oa? 

Q Now you did fill three -teeth did you not? 

Q, Before this? A Yes, sir; I did. 

:ou were working .,on one tooth simply? A 

In order, to kill the nerve? A 

Q You used gas for that purpose? 

Q, You did it alone? A Yes, sir  

Q How long had you:been in the outer office? A. About 

Q. ;,70.w. long had you been working on her in the Outer 

office? A About twenty five minutes. • 

fhat were you doing during those minutes? - A 

excavating and so forth and the applicar 

Q Haven't you told us you completed filling those 

an asking you now if you had completed the filling 

of the teeth on the prior visit? A No, sir. 

Q Isntt it a fact .that you completed filling thikse 

two teeth on the prior visit? A Noi sir. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that her mother accompanied her 



there when the frilling was completed of the two teeth? 

T. LEVfl The attitude of ,the learned Dietri,ot 

Attorney in shaking Ids finger in the face of the wit-. 

ness I call attention to.' 

MR4wCOLLIGAN: That is the way I have, and I Will 

probaby continue to do ao as long as I try caseS. 

that you, completed the. work on the 

two teeth before -the visit in question? A It is not an 

Q How long were you working on it? A As she was hTIP‘' 

I only worked just a. litle bit. 

How long? A Because she became hysterical, the cork 

came out and her respiration was Obstructed and it was not 

proper for me to operate any more. 

so far as fixing the teeth was concerned, 

nerve? A I ,lidriT4-. sa-r 9,at, sir, I trl!1 



did not kill the •neryel I did oot complete the  

on account of her hysterical condition. 

9, What sort of an instrument did you use on this woman 

in order to perfect your work in the inner room, what did you 

do? AL I used an electric drill. I 

In the smaller roam I didet 

MR. LEVY:  Give him a chants to answer. 

A. I understand what I um saying very well. You mean in 

all roam? I used the drill and excavated a little 

ove the nerve when the Cork moved and the respiration be-

came obstructed I was unable to do any more because she 

elosbd the mouth, closing on my fingers or on the in 

strument, and I ddil`:t want ter to 

You had pat something between the jaws to keep them 



COLLI9AN: X will withdraw the question'. 

.4 At the time that the wad under gas, what did you. 

it anything? & I did a 1ittle bit of drilling -on the nerve, 

but I realized that she was conscious and -this drilling 1144 

not been sufficient --

q You didn:t give her as enough to complete the work? 

A No, sir, because she was hysterical, and that prevented 

me from doing what I wanted to do aermuch drilling as I 

Q She was hysterical notwithstanding you had applied 

t2ie gas. D& you want the jury to believe that? A That i 

How long did that take? A Couple of minutes. 

Q That did you do when she became hysterical? A ; had 

leave her alone to wait until the respiration was better. 

Q How• long was that? A probably e. minute or two. 

Q That happened then? A Nothing happened; she beeaMe 

ver. strofidly against the head rest,. and the rest of her bed. 

fell this way (indicating) pressing against this head rest 

o get her in the direct, proper position, 1 grabbed her by 

he wrist, straightened her -in position, her hand went up 

-1111 the air thie way (illustrating) her body stiffened, her. 

muscles became stiff, and her body became an arch, and there 



Was this .at the tine She, wag unaer 

.that is what I call hysteria. 

Q That is before she became consciousn 

she was unconscious during 

Q That occupied a few minutes time? A No, sir, the 

induction of gas takes -- she took probably a minute and 

How long did you use this cone, Doctor, on her? A 

used th4 cone probably a minute or a minute and a half. 

Q  You held it. to her nose? A Yes, sir; that is per-

fectly ,proper t and consistent with my work. 

Q• Yow, what happened after you got her in a normal 

condition? A Why I went to the little room and got the Volvo 

powder, and came in, brought that instrument, a little pair 

of plyers to use on her tooth, told her it would probably 

pain her a fe* hours, and dismissed her.-

Q You.had not completed the work you intended to per-

form on her she was in that condition? A 1 could not 

-complete. ,1 had given her some4gas, but my gas was almost 

empty that was the reason I didn t tive her more gas. 

Q when did you ascertain the gas was almost empty? 



o4 not filled as much al it OUght to be  and there wan, 

sufficient gas there to give .her another dose of it  - 

Q How much experience have you had with dentistry? 

A Probably around 15 years because I studied before 1 grad* 

q It is customary to measure how much gas you put in 

'tank before you begin to operate? A That' is what we 

t to do, but T didnt do It tt that time. I use 411 aw-

How large a cone did you use? vk The usual cone to 

, 
Q That is the usual cone/ A The'problelle length to 

cover the nose and mouth1 

are able'to see the-color of the lips through celluloid.- . 

.11 After .she came to a normal condition and you had 

applied -this material that you spoke off-- after she had 

reached or gone beyond the stage of hysteria? A I applied 

this powder in her mouth. I told her _that it would prob-

Q :That is all there Was to it? -A Yee, sir. 

Did you have anyconversation with her after that? 

A I think she want to the other room, to the larger rooms 

Q at is that? A. She went in the larger room and . 



lhare was her hat and coats tn the waiting, roan or , 

in tfte large office? A I think it Vats on the settee or 

On the sofas I am not quite sure. 
A , 

Q Which room/ A In the large room* 

q That is the waiting room? A Yes Sir.  

Q Was the maid there at that, time? A I don't knew sir. 

Q You have a pretty good recollection of what occurred 
see 

Liiat day. Noworn yoU can refresh your redollectioni was 

the maid in any of those three rooms at the time that the 

complaining witness was leaving your smaller roan?  AT 

can °t tell now there the maid was. 

• Q But you know where she was at the time you Were lin 

the inner office, the larker room, do you not? 4 No, sir, 

T do not. I know Where she was .when I was operating in 

the large roam because she was right alongside of that chair* 

MY maid goes in and out of those roams all the time. She 

does as she pleases to keep the place clean. 

Q You didn't attempt to rape the complainant at all? 

A No, sir* 

It cei' not your custom is it? 

MB ,LEVY: I object to 'the form of the questions 

as insulting. 

MP._CO/LIGAN: I object to the statement of the tor 

ney for the defel?dant as insulting also. 

TTT cOUPT: Put a question. 

-1-mf ere do when she left theinner roan? . 



A She "Make into the large room. I OuPP0Se she was 

Putting on her hat and coat because when I stepped to my 

desk to glance at my appeintnimat, book, and was ftguring 

vhat date I wouad give her, I heard her say, Can I 

Q She told you that? A Yes, sir.. 

Q On this occasion? A Yes, air. 

Wanted to cane agaln? 

Ot Tell us all about that. That is very interesting. 

1R. LBVY I object tø these comments. I want 

to note an objection. 

What day of the week wamthis, 

Wednesday? IL This was Monday. 

Q You told her you would see he 

Q Did she ask you.to continue operating on her? A 

asked nw when will' be my appointTent" 

you again" some words of -that sort or nature. I gla 

in the book, studying the book. 

Q, Where was your book at the time? 
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Where were YOU when she asked you :this? A A 117 dank.. 

4' Where is vour desk? A it the large 'rooms near the 

Q Now that was when she was getting her coat and hat? 

A Yes, sir; I left the desk and came to the little table  

and placed my book upon the little table, and I was prdbably 

five or six feet away 'from her'. 

Q Why did .yo.  the jury a moment ago that you didn't 

know what room she went into to get her hat and coat? 

sir: I didn't say that. I didn,t understand your question. 

Q. She madean engagement to return the 61lowing Thurs7 

I said Thursday morning at 10 

thing else. I said, "Very well", I put her down, -put her 

name down, that morning, and as she was going outside, I 

said,"by the way-, 4-el1 your mother that her plate -is ready,- . 

7. 
I can see her Thursday or friday:1 She says, "All right". She 

walked out the door, it was open about four or five inches. 

_,4 That door? A The door thatjeads into the hall. 



•=Did 'ytu see the muict out tAio,eir; lid 

not: I did notlook, because I vas looking this 

not looking :that way, 

q You were looking at tn'is woman were you 

While she was opening the door, going 'through. 

She came through the door out into the hall? A Yes. 

You opened the door and stood at the door? A I stood 

near the settee I couldn:t see my maid, in that position. 

Tot didn8t came fo the door? A I came close to 

Q. There is a settee,, is there not? (Showing witness 

A Let me explain to youl. sir. 

Q Show the jury. A I know more out this than you 

Q, You ought to. Show it to the jury. A 

little table (indicating). T- had my book  on here4 on this 

7 
table, and I says, I aaked her about Thursday, and she -was 

by this looking glass.here (indicating).in.front of that put... 

Pting on'her hat-, she stood about a minute or two, and the door• 

was open about four or five inches wh4le I was talking to her, 

and  saying- Thdradwr had the book In my hand,- and T. 

opened that door a. little more to allow her to go' out, .she 

was about ready to io out, and I says, "Tell your mother 

her,plate is ready. 

Q You didinot_see your maid in any of those rooms at 



Q. Do you Miler 'whether you Saw he  in the hall? 

A No, sir; I did not go in the hall and look, 

many other things to do for Several patients. 

q There were several patients there already? A To 

come -after. I• had to -hurry for my dinner. 

(I:• I will just ask you one question. You stated on the 

direct examination •that the woman was in an-alarming condition 

You used the word "alarming", did you not? A Alarm:rig? 

Q You were alarmed at her condition, is that what you 

said on the direct exam.inaiAon? A Under what circumstanees? 

In answer to your attorney, when she became hyste-

rical and so forth? A' Yes, sir. That is perfectly proper, 

any dentist would be.alarmed if a person is hysterical. 

Why, having an assistant who wEtsa woman In your 

employ wh did you n -t ask the woman to come to your as 

siptance if this patient was 1n such an alarming 

MB. LEVY: T object to that. 

Q She was in such a condition to cause you alarm? 

5R. LEVY: I object to that as incompetent, 

relevant, 4mmaterial, and argumentative. 

1h did you not do At? A Because the 

when I called my maid in is when I had a large operation, 



to  tastaft a:44t of ex#actiOnstl4eading and so forth 

and she hands no little cotton btalso. That is the condits.. 

tion when .I need the maid or if I break teeth and blooding 4, 

so much the maidhas to fatchAme those little cotttn• hall**• 

That is the only time I need the maid,. 

4 Here is was a, condition in whicia the patient was 

in such a condition that you yourself Ucame alarmed *Kr 

is It that you did not have .this maid that assistyou? 

mr,64. MY: Objetted to. 

-.THE COURT: Nowltneses- just take in the 

would be alarmed? 

th-ispartioulat occasion. in Aue0--, 

in such a condition that'it #autied 

Yous yourself to become alarmed, wIly is A 'that you did 

not call for this woman whom you had employed in vOur estab-

lishment for just such a purpose?  

11R4 LEVY: 7 '1 object to that as not comptanto ma 

rial or .relevant, as argumentative and containing ma 

tars not tri'The evidence. 



A. would be alarmed. if kaPt' 04 OVing Intr. 

I stopped, I ,reitiVed the Otook there Was.nathing to be alar6t, 

ed about, fI kept the gam from her nose and ra00* 

Q Then why did you tell your attorney on the direot 

examination that you were alarmed at her xondit1on9 

R. LEVY;• I Object to that as not material, .rele-

vont or competent .-

Objection overruled: exception. 

Q Why did you tel.l him that? A If 1 kept on 

mhy did you tell your attorney that you were alarrne. 

ME. LEV':I object to that. Let me formulate 

my objection. It is argumentative, immaterial, 

patent and irrelevant. I respectfully object. 

Objection overruled. Exception. 

Answer the question .this time? A Yes, 

ed it before. I would be alarmedif. I kept on giving her 

Q Tell us the reasons for your alarm. YOU -say you 

were alarmed now-7 A- I was alarmed if I kept on giving her 

gas; I was not alarmed if .I stopped: I do not see where I 

could 'he alarmed. I said "le respiration was obstructed. 
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IOW  did ,you, t4U your attornv that you _were SlarMed 

• on this particular occasion. Now you underetand English, 

do you not? A Because the girl badllysteria* 

•MR LEVY: I object to the counsel for the prosecu-

tion shaking his finger irLfront of the face of the 

' defendant. 

ME COURT:. I don't think it is'having any influence 

upon the't.witneSes UT. Levy. 

MR. LEVY: lie should not do it, your Honor. andI 

would not do it, and aver did it.. It is not* examipw-

tion, it might be physical exercise. r 

THE COURT; Tt is'perfebtly proper if he deeiris 

to use a gesture. 

THE VITITESS: A dentist is always alarmed whin he 

gives gas. 

• Q I mm asking you to answer this question. 

(The stenographer reads thb' answer as follows) 

"Because the girl had hysteria." 
01 

MARIE ELIZA13 ETH-i ROY,Awitness called on be-

r half of the defendaht, bein duly sworn, testified 'as 

follows: 

(The witness states she. lives at 42 Bank street.) 

DIRECT EXAJTINATION BY MA, LEVY: 

sir. 

.4 

q Mrs. Roy. you are -1-1(3 wife of the defendant? A Yes, 



ix* on seventeen years. 

Where wet''' you married?. A, I was married in Mlottot* 

You have lived with your husband in the city of lie* 

York, how long? A Well, off and on seven or eight years, 

don't know just how long because we lived in Baltimore, 

and we lived in Boston alp° during the time we were marrisit. 

Q Your name is Varie 

(1,, Your relations with your husband Usare always been 

CI You have left some of your personal belongin in 

his deskl haven't you? A Yes, sir: in a pigeon hole. 

Q o you recollect after your husband was artested going 

to your husband's place of business, and looking at hit desk 

or going to his desk, and finding that some of the correspon. 

dance had been abstratced therefrom, had been taken out? 

Q Do you recollect that? A Yes, sir. 1 do. 



Nowt 1. show, yourt a postai card, Whi.oh District 

Attornoy hae4atOrritti tot -which is eildiessed to ollitsable • 

Your husbandte name is Albert? A Yes, sir. 

Q 'Do you. remember seeing that pieture A Yes, 

Do you recollect your husband having given it 

Q. Do you recollect having put it An your hu 

'desk? A You, sir; put it in the pigeon bole. 

CROSS. EXAMIVATION BY MR. COLLIGAN: 

Q Is it a out am of your husbandts to write 

Q, I it a custom of your husband's to write postale 

you?- A Yes, sir, I have ,any, at home* 

Did he 'writethem to you? A Yes, sir; 

What doee *),- bring them home from the •ofice? 

.Fe had them taken and he put hie name 



this postal? A In the office, 

Do you recollect who was there and so forth, that 

all you know about it? A .I don't remember who was there at 

the time, but the doctor gave it to me anal. put it in the 

pigeon hole in the desk, andI know when I vent there I found 

.7ov many of these pbstal'ha4 ho: Written to you? 

A T. 71ad many,. but not like that, written to me. T had many 

you any in yTar possession 

Wit li his handwriting on? 

on at all cut them around to put in a frame. 

None, of then had. any haadwriting on reading "Marie 

Albert"? A No, sir; not exactly, only that one. 

• Q., That. is the only one you had in your posseesion- which 

wa evor given ,o yqiu,on wiFieh was inscribed the words "Pram 

arie to Albert"? -A Yes. sir; in that style of photograph. 

1311 UR. UT:: 

cir; but I have many others. 

sir) I didn.t think I had to. 



You didnt know441at-yokuir husband this 

been asked in ripsard to this photograph? 

He. was onl asked this ufternoon and she 

4 But you do know that he has been 

able iuband? A He is, ves, Mr. Levy, ar 

he haa no,, teen 1 would not Live with him. 

lq R-I A 14, . a- witness 

1:1 The question you teetified to which you olatn to 
hameioyerhaard between the-unknown persons and the defendant 
or that part of it which you testified to was spoken in $ng,-. 

wss it not? MR. McCORMICKI Cbjeoted to. 
q Well you know you heard what you testified to and un 

derstood it? A Yes, sir. 



41.1111iNtL-

Q It was in Snelista 

ABRAHAM A Iiitueos waled 

on behalf of the defendant, being duly sworn testified as 

(The wttnsss statks he'lives at 55 Central Park West.) 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. LEVY: 

(1 Doctor Brill, I had the pleasure 

4 

neurologist? 4 Yes, sir. 

devote myself entirely to the nervous op mental conditions, 

parti6dlarly. pSycho-neurosis. 

• Q You have been the chief of bhe nervous departmeflt at 

the Bronx Rospita17 A Yes, sir; •E am chief of the nervous 

department,'Columbia University, Medical Department. 



sir; I am now holding that pOSition. 

q You have written, have you not, considerably during 

your medical practice upon the subject of neurosis? A Yes, 

author of about twenty separate pamphlets in a book.. 

Q You live also translated -from the original tongues of 

the Italian, and German, various papers and writings bearing 

that I hold before me now entitled "Selected papers on hysteria 

and otherpsychoneurosis?" A Yes', sir..;ct 

q Which is written by Prof. Herman Floyd of -Vienna? 

Q We have called you in here hurriedly, Doctor, •without 

an opportunity to examine you in advance, to'try and throw Some 

light upon the condition presented here. Have you had an op-. 

portunity to witness, to study, the symptoms of women after 

upon a nervous temperament? 

Q And oth-r anesthetics as well? 



• 
4 PartiOularly as it relates to its effeCte Upon pat ièüti 

V. 

rho receive dental treatment? A Yeti," air* 

q• I have to present to ypla this case as it has been made 

ut thus far: the pat lent, the oubjeot of discussion', at"the% 

time of the administration to her of nitrous oxide was then 

'about 21 years of a,ge, and was at the particular period of the 

administration of the anesthetic undergoing her menstrualtion, 

and it appears that the nitrous oxide was administered to her, 

according to the testimony, if it be true, for a period of 

about a minute' and 4 half; that while the ,anesthetic was being 

administered the became convulsive in her movements by the 

movement,of her• hands over her head, by -the body assuming a 

rigAdity and. by the body ,end,ing haqkwards in 

ing herself forward.. Have you, in your experience, known of 

such condItions to he brought about 'through the administration 

of an anesthetic such as nitrous oxide? A Yes, sir.. 

Q, How v!ouid. you explain:that-:to the jury, such condition? 

.A Well ,the condition depends on the .Individual oalle• Some 

oases it has a special meaning and in other cases it has ano., 

ther and different meaning., But those cases that X have seen 

and heard related, different exPerienoes, usually they go 

• through certain dreamy ocnditions, dreamy states, and if you 

analyze those dreamy conditions they ar;! all based on certain 

experiences ihioh the patient or the pers.= In question has 



entertained usually before the anesthetic wan administered, 

or the woe day, and of oslurse a great many, a mass of material 

of the oast is always interwoven, but in women I find very 

often they are of anl erotic nature, and they usually,have 

erotic dreams in a great many eases that I have observed an 

that I have questioned patients about that have come and told me 

about it. They have different pictures about different persons 

with Wham they never had any relations at an in reality* 

41• It was really tnaginary but they believed it t 

Q In other words after an anesthetic "is administered What-

ever, thought passes through the mind in such condition is re. 

t'ained in the mind as a belief that it actually happened, is-

n't that what you mean? A I wouldn't put it as general as 

that we may understand and that the jury may 

understand, they are not physicians., the meaning of erotic., 

• 
ideas as you have stated them. the. case of a full blooded 

young woman what you mean is that the erotic ideas will drift 

towards the subject of sexual intercourse with males? A :Yes*, 

Q If the young woman had been inolined to think about 

those subjects and have them in her mind they will find lodg-

ment in the mind after an anesthetic has been administered? 



tt Is .that right? A Yew, Olt. 

Q Now, take those symptoms that 1.have stated, the Objeet» 

ive symptome Wiiiph I have related to you, would you pay that the 

-convulsive movement of the hands, the throwing of the body, 

the lifting of the body, and then the rigidity of tile body, 

„4be extension into the shape of a curve outward, and a relaxa-

tion, What would you say that would indicate to your mind? 

--A-14 may be the result of an erotic dream of sexual inter. 

course or of sexual advances. 

Q Would you call it hysterical? A Yes, sir. 

(1 Of course, Dootor, you cannot tell about the facts 

here and you are simply called in as a learned man to give your 

opinion-of such a case if the jury will believe it. A Yes, 

But you have seen such oiroumatanoes? A Yes, sir. 

Sometimes the pureat girl in the .world will....

,COLLIGAN: I object to that. 

AB. LEVY:' Let me ask the qust,ion. 

Isn't it a fact that sometimes the purest minded gix 

MR. OOLLIGAiT: I object to that, 



• MR. LEVY: Let me finish the question. 

Win have her mind drift to such ideas when undergoing 

MR. COLLIGAN: I object to the question. 

Objection orerruled; exception. 

Yes, Efir. 

.BY THE COURT: 

MR. COLLIGAN: Inasmuch as it is the contention of the 

People that she wA,s not given any anesthetic I have no 

4a. LEVY: I thank you very much, Doctor. 

your Honor please.  

MR. MC  TIM We have a little rebuttal. 

BY MR. MC CORMICK: 

were in the operating chair did you at 

certain of that? 



anything On Me. 

cl DO you. know at a cone is? A Yes, air. 

Q Did he put anything of that kind over your 

Q After you got out of the chair did you have 

Q, You were there When the officers we 

defendant in the evening? A Yes, sir. 

What language was that conversation 

defendant say that he had administered gas to you? 

Q Were you there when the officer was there? 

Q The first or the second time? 'A The second time. 



Did -You know that the ofricer was there twice? 
r...„ 

was there in the afternoon and then I was called 16 the 

Q Did you (Overhear what talk he had with the defendant in 

the hallway? A On the,4irst occasion I was not there. . 

(1 The second time did you overhear any conversation be. 

tween the, officer and A - got 

Sir; I. did not. 

between 6 and 7'o'clock. 

Q Who was there? A Miss Poulaillon wan 

Poulaillon and Y$r..DeVilie and the defendant. 

Q Whet 11,,nguage was the conversation 



Q. ftery wort? A leer', sire 

Who were the people that took part in that conversation? 

A The defendant, Miss Pdillaillon and,myeelfs 

(I Was there anything said by the defendant as to Whether 

or not he had administered the gas? A Yes, sir. 

„(1 What did he say? A I asked him that question if he .1 
r, 

used any anesthetic, either gas or pooaine or any 'other thing 

to4roduce stupor or produce any hysteria in the woman or any 
4N9.. 

person to whom it wap applied, and he said 

else but a local application of cocaine to the tooth to be 

Was Mr. Toulaillon—there then? 

Now, let Me get this thing straight. 

weren't you? A Ye, sir. 

Who was there the first time? Myself 

Q Did you 'q.alk in the hallway? AL,I spoke to the defend. 

in the hallway, yes, sirs 

Q

 

Were. you alone with the defendant in the hallway? 

I was alone, Mr. DiVille came afterwardit. 

Q. What was the language used in the hallway? 



lieW did you knew that the  spoke Wench? 

A When X addressed him, 1 asked him what his name was and hi' 

and I, commenced to ,speak to him in French. 

A That was in the office? A That is.when I met him. 

Q Are you prepared to swear you didn't talk any English? 

remenber that I said °Are you Dr. Roy"--

q Did you ask.him if cocaine would.have any effect upon 

the system so as to produce hysteria? A Yes, sir; 

- q What made you speak about hysteria unless it 
4.. 

that the complaining witness had been suffering from 

intention was to gift the defendant all his rights. 

Give your answer. A The reason was to  

give the defendant his rights, and I remarked that there might 

be such a -thing as this woman might have been suffering from 

hysteria. 

Q What led you to say that the young woman was suffer.. 

ing from hysteria? 

MR. me CORMICK: I object to • that. There was, no 

statement that the young woman was suffering from hyater.i 

IniE COURT: . Objection sustained. 
Rs° 



I done it just in fairliess to the defendant hiMeelf, 

police duty. That is all. 

(1 You did not try to put the word apology or reparation in 

the mouth of the defendant, did you? A NO, sir; the defend.. 

ant eilid that himself; he asked Me what he should d o in a case 

like that and that is the reasoll Why he called me in the hallway. 

, Who was it first yaed the word reparation or-apology/ 

A The defendant'himself. 

(1 He asked yo what he should do? A Yes, sir; he 

"reparation" and I said you needn't do anything like that. 

(The Court then admonished the jury oalling their a 

tent ion to Section 415 of the Code Of Criminal Procedure 

and adjourned the further trial of the case until Monday 

morning, January 12, 1914, at 10.30 o'claCk.) 
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